

FES TRANSFORMACIÓN

Beyond Neo-Extractivism: Challenges and Opportunities for Active International Insertion in Latin America

Klaus Bodemer

We are at present witnessing changes happening at breakneck speed in the international arena, the contours of which are not yet clear. The global power center of gravity is moving from West to East. The lack of any alternative beyond the horizons of capitalism has brought to the fore the question as to which strain of capitalism is the best to guarantee welfare, political stability, security, and social harmony.

- Latin America's position in this new order is ambivalent. Over the past 15 years, the region has, on the one hand, gained a foothold on the international stage, albeit with its growth capacity and insertion in the global economy subject to certain conditions; on the other, the region has been shaped by its longstanding role in the international division of labor, external constraints, limitations on financing investment, and recurring balance-of-payments crises.
- Understood as a springboard to the international market, Latin American integration, starting in the 1980s, has shifted profoundly. Nowadays, it is more heterogeneous than in the past, and the region more fragmented than ever before. Nor do Brazil and Mexico, as the key power brokers in the region, have at their disposal the political and economic resources they need to wield regional or subregional leadership or project themselves dynamically beyond the region. Looking at the avalanche of new trade agreements, it is increasingly obvious that they must be compatible and tied to other policy frameworks in the international sphere, first and foremost, to the broader debate on development strategies, as has been discussed in a series of recent documents published by the United Nations.
- In order to implement a structural transformation approach with an eye to more sustainable and inclusive development, it is essential to overcome the extractivist model and the "raw materials curse," diversify and upgrade productive structures, and root them in productive development policies, helped along and supported by much more active education, science, and innovation policies.



Beyond Neo-Extractivism: Challenges and Opportunities for Active International Insertion in Latin America

Klaus Bodemer

Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung Proyecto Regional Transformación Social-Ecológica

© Fundación Friedrich Ebert Representación en México Yautepec 55, Col. Condesa, Del. Cuauhtémoc, C. P. 06140, Ciudad de México. Teléfono: +52 (55) 5553 5302

f	FES Transformación Social-Ecológica

@fes_tse

Proyecto Regional Transformación Social-Ecológica

To request additional copies: transformacion@fesmex.org

Responsible Christian Denzin

ISBN: 978-607-7833-94-9

Commercial use of all media edited and published by the Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung is not permitted without written consent of the FES.

The views expressed in this publication are not necessarily those of the Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung.

Contents

1. The emergence of a new world dis(order). From the Western world to decentered globalism and a G-Zero world
1.1. The emergence of multiple power centers without global leadership6
1.2. From a core-periphery order to a decentralized order and competing versions of capitalism7
1.3. The double transformation of trade policy
2. Latin America's current place on the world stage9
3. The new panorama of post-neoliberal regional integration in Latin America. A suitable platform for a more active international role?10
3.1. The rise of heterogeneous and fragmented regionalism10
3.2. The growing awareness that trade agreements should be linked to other policy areas13
4. Brazil and Mexico as leading subregional countries. Their place in regional integration and the region's international prospects
5. Beyond neo-extractivism? The strategic imperatives for a transformational approach
5.1. The opportunities offered by new relations with China18
5.2. From the "resource curse" to the blessing of value-added exports
5.3. Significant energy potential as opportunity20
5.4. The imperatives of innovation and diversification22
5.5. Can China replace the United States in Latin America?23
5.6. Education and scientific output as key areas24
 6. Conclusions A transition towards deeper integration, larger investments in science and innovation, and sustainable development is the best way to gain greater international importance

6.1. The reaction of Latin American governments to Trump's victory and the wooing of China26



6.2. COP21 as a guiding principle towards a reconfigured Global South and worldwide sustainable		
development	27	
6.3. Towards reinforced integration based on sustainable development	28	
References	30	



1. The emergence of a new world dis(order): From the Western world to decentered globalism and a G-Zero world

1.1. The emergence of multiple power centers without global leadership

We are now witnessing a dizzying process of change in the international sphere. Many observers talk of the end of an era, of the rise of a new world order whose nature is not yet fully formed. Notable among the great transformations of the international system are the rise of China; mega-regional trade agreements; demographic changes and migration; and the worsening of the environmental crisis, especially climate change and acceleration of the technological revolution. All these phenomena underscore the necessity of advancing towards a style of sustainable development with greater equality. Notable among geopolitical trends are the rise of "the rest," with the preeminence of China; unrest in the Middle East; the United States' growing loss of power; and the redesign of Europe. While the United Nations (UN) Security Council continues to be dominated by the winners of World War II, emerging countries from the Global South have attempted to redouble their efforts for acquiring greater influence on the world stage over the past decade. However, a truly consistent alternative to the Western order has not yet come into being, despite the United States having lost power; the European Union (EU) and Japan being at a standstill; and countries including China, India, Brazil, Russia, Turkey, and Indonesia simultaneously flexing their muscles, expanding their influence, and insisting louder on multilateral institutions. The hypothesis of a transfer of power to the BRICS (Brazil, Russia, India, China, and, since 2012, South Africa) is not convincing, as these powers lack a joint vision. Although they share some common ground, economic interests and controversial politicians have so far complicated intra-BRICS relations and consistent South-South strategies (Kappel & Pohl, 2013; Bodemer, 2014). To date, Asia under the supremacy of China has not been able to replace the West's values, ideas, pluralist

societies, and democratic institutions, despite its impressive economic power (Rachman, 2017). This deficit tends instead to increase with the deceleration of growth of the group's members. However, twenty years after Princeton University's John Ikenberry's (1996) affirmation that the liberal Western world order is still robust, his statement seems like it is from another world. The same is true for Ikenberry's most recent article on the "The Illusion of Geopolitics: The Enduring Power of the Liberal Order" (2014). We are witnesses to the simultaneous emergence of multiple power centers with regional and global aspirations, characterized by a lack of global leadership (Stewart, 2014). According to Ian Bremmer (2013, p. 5), we live not in the world of the G8, nor in that of the G20, but rather in a G-Zero world. We are present at the dawning of a new age of a more plundering nature in terms of rights; and in which a new, more atomized and unpredictable regional and global scenario is emerging. To paraphrase the title of one of Ian Bremmer's books, Every Nation for Itself (2012), it is an "unruled world" (Stewart, 2014). There is still a certain hierarchy, with the UN Security Council at the top, but international politics presents (as the realism theory of international relations suggests) anarchic characteristics, under the influence of states that recognize no higher authority. The demand for international cooperation has not diminished. In fact, it is greater than ever, thanks to the endemic failure of the Security Council to suitably mediate large-scale conflicts, but also due to the multiple challenges implied by deepening economic interdependence, worsening environmental degradation, proliferating transnational security threats, and accelerating technological change. However, most cooperative multilateral bodies, even those that are binding under international law, lack real power to enforce compliance with collective decisions. What passes for governance is therefore an ungainly patchwork of formal and informal institutions (Stewart, 2014, p. 3). Effective multilateral responses instead occur outside formal institutions, and frustrated actors end up preferring informal and unconventional paths that lead them to put up with ad hoc and piecemeal solutions, in other words, with "good enough global governance" (Stewart, 2014).

1.2. From a core-periphery order to a decentralized order and competing versions of capitalism

Dominant global economic and societal trends exacerbate the contradictions of a development style that has predominated for more than two centuries, but that has now become unsustainable. The old world - characterized by the emergence of modernity during the "long 19th century" (Hobsbawm, 1962), a configuration between industrial capitalism, rational-bureaucratic states, and new ideologies of progress - made the "rise of the West" possible in the 19th and 20th centuries, as well as the construction of a highly unequal global political economy (Buzan & Lawson, 2013). This same configuration is today allowing the "rise of the rest," as Buzan and Lawson have recently underscored (2014, pp. 71ff.). The center of gravity of world power is gradually shifting from West to East or, more precisely, from the triangle formed by the United States, the European Union, and Japan to the emerging powers of the South, with China leading the way, followed by India, Brazil, and South Africa, as well as some "next-wave" countries such as Indonesia, Turkey, Mexico, Colombia, and Argentina. As a result of this process, the power gap that has been the basis of the international core-periphery order for centuries is closing, gradually replacing the old order with a decentered order in which no power, or network of powers, is preeminent, a completely new phenomenon. This new world of decentered globalism implies that the ideological differences between the large powers are constantly being reduced, while the gap between core and periphery is closing simultaneously (Buzan & Lawson, 2014, p. 72).

The four decades of the Cold War were marked by the competition between capitalism and socialism and a strong ideological tone. During the first decade after the end of the Cold War, the course of the socialist camp was impacted by the illusion of the "end of history" (Fukuyama, 1992). Today, the debate is focused on asking what type of capitalism is the best guarantor of welfare, political stability, security, and social harmony. The lack of a concrete alternative beyond capitalism brings with it a certain convergence between large rivals. For example, China is not an absolute enemy or friend of the United States, but both at the same time: economically it is a partner, while politically it is a rival. Once again, according to Buzan and Lawson (2014, p. 91), this is a good message. On the other hand, what is less positive is the fact that although states are supported by more or less comparable power resources, these resources are embedded into a broad spectrum of governance structures, which brings to the fore the question of how to manage relationships between the four main modes of capitalist governance: liberal democratic, social democratic, competitive authoritarian, and state bureaucratic (Buzan & Lawson, 2014, p. 72). This involves the differentiation of archetypes that are expressed on a continuum rather than in a truly pure form, due to the fact that most states tend to occupy hybrid forms. Contemporary Russia is, for example, a mixture of state bureaucratic capitalism with competitive authoritarian capitalism. Most Central American countries and some South American countries combine competitive authoritarianism capitalism with aspects of liberal or social democratic capitalism. States often move from one type to another. Chile, under Pinochet's regime, was a mixture of bureaucratic and competitive authoritarian capitalism. After the end of the military regime, the country has instituted capitalism that is an amalgamation of liberal democratic and social democratic elements (Buzan & Lawson, 2015, p. 283).

The rise of decentered globalism also means that no state is capable of replacing the United States as a superpower, not even China. Instead, the new order (or disorder) has several great powers and many regional powers: Brazil and Mexico in Latin America, China and India in Asia. Another consequence of decentered globalism in a world of universalized capitalism is that there is no single vision regarding the combination of its three components: industrial capitalism, rational-bureaucratic states, and ideologies of progress. Each of the four variants of capitalism offer distinct responses and have advantages, disadvantages, and weaknesses regarding the objectives pursued: efficiency, welfare with equality, political stability, and social cohesion (for more details, see Buzan & Lawson, 2014, pp. 78-83). A third option that combines the advantages of the West with those of China, as proposed by Berggruen and Gardels (2012), is intellectually interesting,



but does not seem realistic. The universalization of market relationships means an almost worldwide conception of politics and economics, although they are different spheres of action (Buzan & Lawson, 2014, p. 75).

1.3. The double transformation of trade policy

We are witnessing a double transformation of trade policy. Both transformations are causing the World Trade Organization (WTO), the guarantor of trade multilateralism for decades, to lose importance. Instead of the WTO, with its supposed regime of free trade without discrimination, preferential and discriminatory mega-regional trade agreements appear to be gaining ground, such as the Transatlantic Trade and Investment Partnership (TTIP) and the Trans-Pacific Partnership (TPP), with the latter challenged by another mega-regional agreement, the Regional Comprehensive Economic Partnership (RCEP), under the leadership of the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) (Wilson, 2015). These agreements flank a new geostrategic mega-conflict and contribute little to the liberalization of trade; instead, they serve as protectionist instruments against new competitors and promote the exclusion of those who intend to compete, such as China. In summary, all of the largest powers are attempting to create their own preferential trade policy agreements, competing with each other for power and influence.

As a result, we are witnessing a reversal in geopolitics in which the TTIP and the TPP are, according to their defenders, not only responses to the stagnation in multilateral negotiations within the WTO framework, but also reactions to the decreasing competitiveness of transatlantic powers in respect to emerging countries and, in general, are responses to the diminished capacity of these powers to impose the rules of international trade (Dieter, 2014). Despite Trump's frontal assault of these mega-agreements (renouncing the TTIP and the TPP, renegotiating the North American Free Trade Agreement [NAFTA]), the increasing use of these agreements has only been halted, but in no way has this trend been reversed completely. A second trend confronting the WTO and its system of rules is the expansion of a new protectionism and economic nationalism, spearheaded by the new U.S. government. This trend arose in previous years as a reaction to the global financial crisis of 2008. Since 2012, world trade has grown at an annual rate of three percent, a figure that represents less than half of the growth observed in the previous three decades. Since 2008, national industrial policy has become fashionable once more, triggering a domino effect of protectionist measures. Both of the aforementioned trends point to the end of trade multilateralism, a basic philosophy of the global economy since World War II (Dieter, 2015). The age of discourse about free trade without discrimination appears to have reached its end, and it is worth noting that Trump's protectionism did not begin this process; it has merely accelerated it.

In summary, the emerging world order has the shape of decentered globalism, whose main dynamics are the relationships between competitive forms of capitalist governance and the reconfiguration of the Global South (Woertz, 2016). Another fact to consider is that, while the four variants of capitalism are facing severe challenges, none of them appear likely to disappear in the short term. Although trends tend to favor divergence over convergence, a return to hard geopolitics or geoeconomics is not, according to Buzan and Lawson (2014, p. 86), more plausible, but cannot be fully ruled out (see the hardening attitudes between the United States and Russia). We can instead expect (and Buzan and Lawson finish their reflections with this optimism) an emerging concert of capitalist powers, such as the G20, supported by a set of rules, regulations, and institutions that reconstitute international society or, better put, claim to represent it, provoking an unsurprising reaction: protest from those who are excluded. This emerging concert of powers could manage competitiveness between diverse, but integrated, models of political economics and constitute a pluralist order. As all capitalist powers are interested in the wheels of the global economy continuing to turn, their mutual relationships will be both cooperative and competitive. Their common interest lies in adherence to the doctrine of multilateralism and the rejection of a unipolar, zero-sum world. Finally, should this concert be consolidated,

the culture of interaction in this soft geoeconomic order would be one of friends and rivals, not one of rivals and enemies. In the words of Buzan and Lawson: "While capitalism has become the only game in town, no single form of capitalism has sufficient legitimacy or power to assert hegemony. Indeed, any attempt to do so is likely to see everyone lose" (Buzan & Lawson, 2014, p. 91). What also appears to be clear is that the notion of the world order demands transcendence of a binary categorization ("the West and the Rest") or hierarchical one, instead demanding a relational perspective. The emerging new world order would therefore point towards an arrangement characterized by the confluence of order and disorder, of Western and non-Western worlds, and that recognizes the crucial role of the other in shaping their own identity and history.

2. Latin America's current place on the world stage

Where does Latin America stand in relation to the new political and economic geography outlined above? There is no doubt that over the past fifteen years, the region has consolidated its position within an international context characterized by the crisis or stagnation of more industrialized economies and the rise of emerging countries from the South. The leitmotif of this stage was the so-called "commodities consensus," based on the large-scale exportation of primary goods. Its characteristics included the expansion of extraction mega-projects (mega-mining, oil exploitation), the construction of mega-dams, and the new agrarian capitalism, with its combination of genetically modified organisms (GMOs) and agrotoxins, among others. According to Maristella Svampa (2017), extractive-exporter projects are characterized by "a common extraction logic: large scale, orientation towards exportation, intensive occupation of territory and seizure of lands, amplification of environmental and socio-sanitary impacts, preeminence of large transnational corporate actors, and a trend towards low-intensity democracy" (p. 56). The commodities consensus was based on favorable conditions and driven by the high prices of raw materials and the growing demand of countries such as China and India, facilitating the acquisition of surpluses that were primarily used by some progressive governments to increase social public spending. However, these conditions ended in 2014: in economic terms with the contraction of the economy, and in political terms with the end of comfortable electoral victories for progressives and one entering into disputed territory. Contrary to the 2003-2014 period, progressivism now faces more hard-fought elections with uncertain results. The region, which has seen its capacity for growth conditioned by an external restriction arising from limited investment financing and recurring balance of payment crises, continues to lag behind in terms of its participation in the global economy. Although terms of trade recovery over the past twenty years has coincided with the strong growth of the participation of China and other Asian economies in world trade, the participation of Latin America in global exports of goods and services continues to be stagnant and its share in the exchange of hightechnology goods and modern services has actually decreased, even when the importance of these Asian economies as a destination for Latin American exports quintupled. Only five Latin American countries had an export participation above the regional average to ASEAN, China, and India, with percentages ranging from 13.2 percent for Argentina to 26.6 percent for Chile, with the top five rounded out by Peru (16.9 percent), Brazil (21.9 percent), and Venezuela (25 percent). Collectively, these five countries send 90 percent of Latin American exports to ASEAN, China, and India. China alone represents 73 percent of total Latin American trade (Kacef, 2016, p. 51). Trade with these three areas shows a higher degree of concentration in comparison with other destinations, has not varied significantly in the past two decades, and appears to respond to a traditional pattern of exchange between these economies. Raw materials account for 76 percent of total exports from the countries that sell the most to the aforementioned areas, and only the remaining 24 percent corresponds to manufacturing with a greater degree of processing (Kacef, 2016, pp. 53ff.).

In summary, despite certain achievements regarding the technology and knowledge content of exports, these advances have not been sufficient to close the productivity gaps that separate the region's



economies from more competitive markets (Kacef & Ballesty, 2014). The region's participation in global flows of foreign direct investment (FDI) has increased while, at the same time, specialization in low-technology activities has been reinforced. Participation in global value chains (GVCs) continues to stagnate below the world average, primarily consisting of the supply of raw materials for export to third countries. Digital connectivity continues to be poor and weakens the region's participation in dynamic new sectors. Within the context of a stagnant world economy and the rise of new protectionism, Latin American trade has fallen for the fourth consecutive year and, even more seriously, only a modest regional trade recovery is projected for the 2017-2020 period (Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean [ECLAC], 2016c, pp. 11-24). According to the most recent projections by the International Monetary Fund (IMF), after negative growth of -1 percent in 2016, the region is going to grow by only one percent in 2017 and 1.9 percent in 2018, mainly as a consequence of low confidence in the region and weak internal demand (Werner, 2017). In the medium term, the IMF projects average growth of only 1.6 percent, a figure that coincides with the forecast for advanced economies, making the situation even worse.

The new post-2014 scenario outlined above constitutes the backdrop to the implementation of the new 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, which is based, among other factors, on the results of the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs).¹ The 2030 Agenda poses challenges across all development spheres, from the economic to the social, environmental, and political, including issues of institutionality, governance, and international participation. According to ECLAC, the 2030 Agenda is extremely important for the region and reflects the fact that the current development model is becoming increasingly unsustainable.

Beyond the extractivist-exporter model, which benefitted from positive conditions in terms of the

prices for raw materials from 2003-2013, regional integration is an additional factor that offers details on the manner and scope of the region's international participation. Here, we are primarily interested in the scope of the so-called "Latin American autonomous regionalism" or "defiant Latin American regionalism" that has emerged in recent years (Preciado Coronado, 2013) as one of the topics that has converged in progressive governments, and the new phenomenon of minilateralism, with its two most important instruments: cross-regionalism and the Pacific Alliance (PA).

3. The new panorama of post-neoliberal regional integration in Latin America: A suitable platform for a more active international role?

3.1. The rise of heterogeneous and fragmented regionalism

In a globalized world consisting of mega-blocks that compete with each other, each country must cooperate with other countries and contribute efforts and resources to successfully participate in the international sphere. This requires going beyond bilateral agreements with individual countries and strengthening regional integration to increase the region's competitiveness and its bargaining power with other important international players.

The rise of a new world order, characterized by decentered globalism, competing versions of capitalism and alterations in the distribution of global power, led Latin America to a new phase of heterogeneous regionalism. Postliberal or posthegemonic integration structures, such as the Bolivarian Alliance for the Peoples of Our America - Peoples' Trade Agreement (ALBA - TCP); the Union of South American Nations (UNASUR), and the Community of Latin American and Caribbean States (CELAC) coexist with a mechanism that returns to an agenda of open regionalism through the Pacific Alliance (PA) and points to the construction of a launch platform towards the new pole of the global economy: Asia and the Pacific. In parallel, the traditional integration regimes remain more or less alive: the relatively

^{1.} Tassara and Cecchini (2016) summarize the path from the MDGs to the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).

successful Central American Common Market (MCCA), the half-dead Andean Community, and the stagnant Southern Common Market (Mercosur), stagnant. All of these parallel, overlapping, and contradictory integration mechanisms are examples of South-South cooperation and reconfigure the region's political and economic spheres. In parallel, the Organization of American States (OAS) has lost leadership and legitimacy as a hemispherical link in recent years in the face of the rise of exclusively Latin American integration schemes, such as UN-ASUR and CELAC, although the changes in the political arena from 2015 to date have resulted in the loss of the initial momentum of these networks, highlighting their fundamental contradictions. Multidimensional, low-institutionalization proposals coexist with proposals containing significant ideological content, and regional fora overlap with preexisting sub-regional initiatives. With the exception of ALBA, whose focus is clearly confrontational and exclusionary of other integration regimes, the initiatives allow a division of labor and act under the imperative of the need imposed by the international situation to bestow the region with a concerted and coordinated presence (Peña, 2012). The youngest of all, the PA, includes the Pacific countries that are open to the international market (Mexico, Peru, Chile, and Colombia) and presents itself as a novel mechanism of regional integration. As an integration process, it shares characteristics with certain forms of open regionalism. Economic internationalization through the participation in new markets is one of the elements shared by the four founding states. Collectively, these countries command more than half of Latin American foreign trade, although the level of internationalization of trade varies, as Colombia and Peru lag slightly behind in this area compared to Mexico and Chile (Duarte Herrera, González Parías, & Montoya Uribe, 2014). One of the challenges of this new integration regime will be accurately defining how it can meet one of its main goals: serving as a bridge between Asia and Latin America on both sides of the Pacific (Durán Lima & Cracau, 2016). The PA has acted, until now, with a great deal of initiative, and has already reached a series of concrete results, attracting no fewer than 49 observer countries, including big shots such as the United States, Japan, China, Germany, France, and Great Britain, three of the four

members of Mercosur, and one member of ALBA. This mechanism entered into a new phase at the XII PA Summit, hosted in Cali, Colombia on June 30, 2017. One of the outcomes of the Summit was the decision to open bloc negotiations with Canada, Australia, New Zealand, and Singapore as a step to further solidify trade relations in the Pacific region. This decision reflects the consideration that the TPP (in which Latin America has played a rather marginal role) is temporarily stalled with the withdrawal of the Trump government from the ongoing negotiations. Considering the fact that Mercosur's engagement with the PA is essentially frozen due to its members' internal disputes, above all those of Brazil, the PA appears to have consolidated itself as the region's most dynamic political and economic space (Maihold, 2017).

Beyond the political-economic importance of the PA, this regime is an expression of a new form of cooperation and a type of economic governance that goes beyond the cooperation and integration strategies of past decades, now referred to as "minilateralism". According to Jorge Garzón and Detlef Nolte (2017), minilateralism possesses four fundamental characteristics: first, it assembles the lowest necessary number of actors to reach a specific goal; second, it favors more informal and flexible ("soft law") agreements over traditional, more formal integration agreements; third, it responds to challenges in a disaggregated and incremental manner, instead of adhering to a comprehensive agreement; and fourth, contrary to the multilateralism and regionalism that pursue the homogenization and dissemination of specific standards, practices, and models (such as European integration), minilateralism is characterized by a growing heterogeneity and diversity of forms, a reflection of diverse interests and diplomatic traditions from a scattered field of actors.

Latin America has not been excluded from this trend towards the propagation of minilateral forms of cooperation in recent years, attempting to establish minilateral relations primarily through two instruments: first, through so-called "cross-regionalism," a new bilateralism that refers to the practice or strategy of negotiating multiple bilateral trade agreements in parallel with partners that belong to



different regions; second, through the aforementioned PA. Both instruments of minilateralism are clearly distinguished from traditional cooperation and integration regimes and have become a specific "governance complex" (Nolte, 2014), in which minilateral institutions coexist and compete with the regional economic cooperation agreements that arose during the "new regionalism" of the 1990s (Garzón & Nolte, 2017).

It is relevant to make a few observations regarding the PA, the youngest initiative on the region's long list of integration regimes. Its launch was not only celebrated as a major step forward, but has also advanced a great deal in a short amount of time and has even struck a chord with members of the center-left and left.² However, since its creation at the beginning of the current decade, the PA has received strong criticism, most of which has come from left-wing governments, as expected. Evo Morales, for example, denounced that behind the PA was the "political, military, and financial arm of the empire," whose goal was to undermine the peoples' sovereignty and weaken the regional integration of Mercosur, UNASUR, and CELAC. For Morales, the PA is nothing more than a slightly more limited attempt to resuscitate the failed Free Trade Area of the Americas (FTAA) initiative, consolidating a free trade area among the four members at the convenience of the United States, which would, among other initiatives, include a new attempt to privatize basic services (Agencia EFE, 2015).

Beyond ideological criticisms, it is worth mentioning that the PA was criticized more concretely based on the considerations that it would result in disastrous economic effects due to the asymmetries in power and production structures between its member countries. One of the sectors most likely to be impacted is Colombian agriculture.³ There is also the real danger that the PA causes the deindustrialization of its lesser partners and, as Cristina de la Torre has criticized, converts this type of country into net exporters of services, fossil fuels, and bananas, while also reinforcing their passive role as importers of industrial and agricultural goods. Using the Colombian case as an example, de la Torre warns that with full implementation of the PA, cars assembled in Mexico (which are cars from U.S. or Chinese companies) would be entering the country with zero customs duty. For de la Torre, the PA threatens to push Colombia even further off the path of industrialization and elevating agricultural productivity, accompanied by agricultural reform (de la Torre, 2014).

From a geopolitical perspective, it is interesting to look at the opinion of former Mexican Secretary of Foreign Affairs Jorge Castañeda, who perceives the PA in its original purpose as a lure to attract several Latin American countries towards the TPP, "an attempt by the United States and Japan to create a trade bloc that can stop the expansion of the Chinese economy in Latin America and other regions of the Pacific" (Borbolla, 2014). Furthermore, if the PA is meant to be a regional influence, the true challenge lies in advancing towards greater regional integration and increasing the still-low level of intraregional trade.4 To do so, it is crucial to bring the PA closer to Mercosur, as the two blocs represent more than 94 percent of the region's GDP. However, this challenge would make sense only if one considers trade and regional integration to be a means to advance development, and not an end in itself. This development is achieved through national policies that encourage progress towards the diversification of production to overcome the region's traditional dependence as an exporter of raw materials (Campodónico, 2015).

The new differentiation of integration regimes is assessed by observers chiefly as a suitable response to

^{2.} For example, Pepe Mujica, the former president of Uruguay, has advocated his country's membership in the Alliance. 3. For Rafael Mejía, the president of the Colombian Agricultural Society (SAC), the Alliance is the worst trade agreement signed by the country, as it represents more disadvantages than advantages for the agricultural sector. As a plurilateral agreement that removes price bands, Colombian farmers will no longer be able to resort to the safeguards and anti-dumping measures contemplated within the WTO framework that are meant to defend domestic production (García Sierra, 2014).

^{4.} The trade that occurs between the members of the PA is relatively low. According to data from the Wilson Center, it represents a mean of 5.3 percent to 7.8 percent of total exports and imports, respectively.

an increasingly differentiated Latin America and as an opportunity to achieve greater integration in the world market and global governance structures by means of differentiation and cross-relations (Peña, 2012, pp. 6-8; Phillips, 2002). Given the bleaker international and regional outlook since 2014, this goal of a more active global integration for the region is no way guaranteed. Goods markets have experienced a loss of dynamism, leading South American economies to tend towards recession or at least lower growth rates.

Considering the economic and political importance that Brazil held as sub-leader for more than a decade (i.e. during Lula da Silva's administration and Dilma Rousseff's first term) its fall is especially dramatic. As Günther Maihold recently mentioned (2017), Brazil's fall is an indicator of the end of the South American project promulgated by Brazil and transnational solidarity between left-wing governments. The region is increasingly more fragmented, and we can expect growing tensions in the sub-region and resistance to a possible reformulation of Brazil's ideas of organization. Additionally, the two instruments of minilateralism (cross-regionalism and the PA) have implemented new forms of governance that go beyond the region and in which Brazil is not included as a participant (at least for now) and that assume a new dynamic of regional and transnational economic cooperation and new drivers for trade and investments.

Despite more than 200 years of integration rhetoric and constant calls for unity and solidarity, Latin American regionalism today paints a picture of heterogeneity and increasing fragmentation, presenting various projects with different, if not incompatible, models of development, rationalizations, and agendas. In this context, it is likely that Mercosur, despite all its weaknesses, will continue to be the central point of reference for the process of Latin American integration (Heine, 2014, p. 97). However, the expectation of a substantial strengthening of its institutions will be difficult to achieve, despite all the progress made in recent years, such as the Parliament of Mercosur (Parlasur), the Mercosur Structural Convergence Fund (FOCEM), and the Mercosur Permanent Court of Review. In an increasingly pessimistic scenario, the avalanche of



unilateral and bilateral actions recently implemented by its member countries appears instead to be a sign of the beginning of the end.

Summarizing what has been described in this chapter, we can say that Latin America's consistent and coordinated regional presence on the international stage today appears more distant than ever. The new bilateralism in the region (and beyond it)⁵ is also forced by Donald Trump's America First strategy, his attack on free trade and regional integration, and his announcement of protectionist measures. The Trump administration's refusal to sign the TPP is a clear sign that Latin America should seek its own path if it wishes to strengthen relations with its Asian partners, excluding possibly controversial elements such as labor and environmental demands and approaching China and its proposed trade mega-agreements, such as the RCEP, among other initiatives. Both economic and political resources are currently lacking to implement true South-South cooperation (which was one of Brazil's foreign policy priorities during Lula da Silva's two terms, for example, within the BRICS and IBSA [India, Brazil, and South Africa] frameworks). The fall of Dilma Rousseff and the swing to the right in Brazil meant the loss of one of the boldest leaders applying pressure to reform the international order to create an order in which the South will be better represented (Maihold, 2016). The new governments in both Argentina and Peru point in the same direction. As a result, the power vacuum in Latin America has been heightened. No Latin American country has the economic resources and political weight to replace Brazil's role in the region: not Argentina, not Mexico, not Colombia, and certainly not Venezuela.

3.2. The growing awareness that trade agreements should be linked to other policy areas

^{5.} When British Prime Minister Theresa May announced the plans to leave the EU in January 2017, she presented a new economic foreign policy that framed the exit as the freedom to negotiate free trade agreements outside the EU, including with Australia, New Zealand, China, Brazil, and the Persian Gulf countries.



Despite the end of left-wing and center-left governments in most of the region's countries, and the fact that most new governments must deal with domestic problems above all, a full return to a policy of introspection does not appear likely, nor does a return to the pure neoliberalism of the 1990s, as some voices on the left claim. The new center-right governments in Argentina, Brazil, and Peru, proponents of the new openness, expect that it will reanimate and diversify trade and attract new investments that encourage economic progress. There are, however, strong doubts regarding the likely success of this strategy, not only due to the lingering global recession, but also because the world economy is in dire straits, characterized by the triangle of low-productivity growth, huge debts, and a zero-interest policy from central banks.⁶ The reanimated free-trade rhetoric not only clashes with Donald Trump's neoprotectionism and mercantilism, but apparently its center-right Latin American proponents have also forgotten that, according to the famous Washington Consensus and as seen in historical experience, unrestricted free trade agreements have few winners and many losers and are one of the sources of growing inequality, both within and between countries. Increasing inequality will lead to increasing resistance from the sectors of society that feel disconnected, as is the case for noncompetitive small and medium enterprises (SMEs). It is no coincidence that the new transnational mega-agreements, such as the TTIP, the TPP, and the Comprehensive Economic and Trade Agreement (CETA), also known as the Global Economic and Trade Agreement, have met with strong resistance in Global North countries, particularly the EU, as a reaction to the antidemocratic manner in which these treaties are negotiated: in secret, with little transparency, and without the participation of the broad spectrum of social actors who might be affected by their content. These protests, however, go beyond criticism of negotiation style; they imply a deeper criticism. Historical evidence shows that David Ricardo's theorem of comparative advantages should be extended to include power structures and actors' interests, which would contribute to a real understanding of trade advantages. Against this backdrop, it is hardly coincidental that there is a growing awareness that these trade agreements should be more compatible with and linked to other international regulatory frameworks (Schillinger, 2016), that is, with a more extensive debate on development strategies. Two examples of this can be found in the UN's recent approval of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development due to recent changes in the world and in response to economic, distributive, and environmental imbalances in the dominant style of development; and in the presentation of the document Horizons 2030: Equality at the Centre of Sustainable Development to member states at the 36th session of ECLAC, which "provides an analytical complement to the 2030 Agenda [and its 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs)] from a structuralist perspective and from the point of view of the Latin American and Caribbean countries" (ECLAC, 2016b, p. 10). According to this innovative document,

the combination of progress towards a new governance for the creation of global public goods, the consolidation of the region's contribution to this effort and the implementation of national strategies and policies for progressive structural change will thus form the basis for a new development style centered on equality and the environmental big push (ECLAC, 2016b, p. 168).

Although the SDGS and the ECLAC publication are relevant instruments, their viability appears to be restricted by two factors: first, due to the lack of alignment of global governance in the areas in which transnational enterprises predominate; and second, due to their predominantly state focus and scant participation by social actors. A substantial part of the planned progressive change suggests incorporating greater levels of knowledge-based production, guaranteeing social inclusion, and combating the negative effects of climate change. The focal point of reflections and proposals for advancing towards a new style of development is based on driving equality and environmental sustainability. The creation of not only global public goods and their regional-

^{6.} According to data from the IMF, worldwide debt totals \$152 trillion dollars, which corresponds to 225 percent of the world's gross social product (Giesen & Piper, 2016).

level counterparts, but also of national policies, is the core from which the structuralist vision expands towards global Keynesianism and a development strategy centered on a large environmental push. The aforementioned ECLAC publication could serve as a blueprint for the domestic policy of Latin American countries and could also guide their foreign policy and behavior in international fora. There are undoubtedly a series of points of contact and converging views with the EU and its member countries, which could give new momentum to the strategic association between both subregions that has been sought since the 1990s.

Any trade policy that takes the Horizons 2030 recommendations into account should balance market economy interests with social and environmental standards. Both the Global North and South need to take energetic steps towards a fair global economy that increases welfare and prioritizes environmental and climate protection while also respecting human and labor rights; only agreements of this type are sustainable. The signs of unrestricted openness of Brazilian President Michel Temer and Argentinean President Mauricio Macri appear, however, to not have learned anything from this lesson. In terms of the international prospects for regional integration, two countries hold the power due to their hard and soft resources: Brazil and Mexico.

4. Brazil and Mexico as leading subregional countries: Their place in regional integration and the region's international prospects

Although estranged from each other for decades, relations between Mexico and Brazil, the two most powerful countries in Latin America, have been, according to the words of historian Guillermo Palacios (2005), "a series of conflicts and reconciliations" for more than 150 years. Scientific and media interest, which has been modest for decades, experienced a remarkable peak starting at the beginning of this century, especially with the so-called "rise of Brazil" during Lula da Silva's first term (2002-2006). A series of articles have underscored the rivalry and competition that exist between the two powers, both in terms of their development models

and their foreign policies and international reach. Brazil and Mexico appear to be two democratic, economically stable countries that are willing to actively participate in international affairs, but are following different courses in their economic policies and manner of participating in regional and international economies (Covarrubias, 2016, p. 49). Eloquent titles on this perspective include "México vs. Brasil" [Mexico vs. Brazil] (Rubio, 2012); "La rivalidad México-Brasil" [Mexico-Brazil rivalry] (Castañeda, 2012), and "México y Brasil: caminos opuestos" [Mexico and Brazil: Opposite approaches] (Ojeda Gómez, 2009), among others.

An analysis and comparison of the dynamics of South America, dominated by Brazil, and those of North America, consisting of Mexico and the Central American isthmus, provides the following takeaways on the positioning and role of these two powers in Latin America and beyond:⁷

- 1. There is a dominant power in both regions that, according to hard data, bears the status of a "middle power": Brazil and Mexico. This status is, in the case of Mexico, less defined than that of Brazil. Both countries have important power resources (in the sense of positional power), which can be verified through their macroeconomic and demographic figures. Both countries also have abundant natural resources.
- 2. While Brazil increased its power of influence during Lula da Silva's two terms through a variety of proactive policies, Mexico was, for a long time, fairly uncertain in this regard. This has begun to change, although at a slow pace, starting with the governments of Fox and Calderón, and more decidedly with Peña Nieto.
- **3.** The room for maneuver of Mexican foreign policy was always, and continues to be, strongly re-

^{7.} The following section summarizes a more extensive work by the author currently in press: Diferentes espacios, diferentes dinámicas políticas: Una comparación de las políticas exteriores regionales y extra-regionales de Brasil y México [Different spaces, different political dynamics: A comparison of Brazil and Mexico's regional and extra-regional foreign policies] Buenos Aires, Ediciones Imago Mundi, 2017.

stricted by geographical proximity to and historical and structural dependence on its neighbor the United States, as well as strong ties between the two economies. There is no comparable relationship in South America, which gives Brazil and its neighbors much greater room for maneuver in foreign policy. However, with the advance of integration in both subregions (Mercosur, UNASUR, and ALBA in the South; the North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA) and the Dominican Republic-Central America Free Trade Agreement (CAFTA-DR) in the North; CELAC throughout Latin America; and the failed hemispherical project FTAA), the dynamic of interstate relations has changed, and power relations are more fluid in the region.

4. South American integration gathered additional momentum under Lula da Silva's two governments. While strengthening Mercosur was the initial focus, intergovernmental coordination structures were later extended, which culminated in the creation of UNASUR in 2008. This period was notably marked by the reinvention of South America and Mexico, and its separation from the northern region (Gehre Galvão, 2009, p. 63). Under Calderón's government, and more concretely with Lula da Silva's visit to Mexico in August 2007, the two countries established a closer relationship, discovering shared interests and dispelling any appearance of misunderstanding or open competition. In 2008, Brazil once again took the initiative and held the first Latin America and Caribbean Summit on Integration and Development (CALC) in Salvador de Bahía. With this step, Brazil began to extend its influence beyond the South. Mexico's growing interest in the South also became apparent when the country hosted the following CALC in Cancún in April of 2010. Calderón took advantage of this summit to promote his own idea of Latin American unity without the United States and Canada, which contributed to the creation of CELAC (Padgett, 2010). However, it would be an exaggeration to argue that CELAC was created chiefly at Calderón's insistence. Many interests came together in its creation, including the opposition to the division of Latin America into two spaces: the North, consisting of Mexico, Central America, and the Caribbean; and the South, dominated by the heavy-hitter Brazil. Another element was Argentina's interest in including Mexico in the new integration regime, without the United States and Canada, as a counterweight to its rival Brazil.

- 5. One area of competition that was not articulated was that both countries sought a seat on the United Nations Security Council. Despite that fact that Brazil invested more in this effort, the country, along with the other members of the G4 (Japan, Germany, and India), were blocked in 2005 due to the lobbying efforts of Uniting for Consensus (nicknamed the Coffee Club). Mexican diplomacy adopted a clear position in this regard, favoring the expansion of non-permanent seats on the Security Council. Another example of divergent interests can be found in the fact that when Mexico hosted the G20 Summit in Los Cabos in June 2012, neither Brazil nor Argentina participated. On the other hand, the PA has given Mexico the opportunity to emphasize once again its role as a leader in integration efforts based on the current parameters of free trade, together with the other members of the Alliance: Chile, Colombia, and Peru.
- 6. Another important factor has to do with the different dynamics in North and South America. In the South, there is the competition between the regional leader (Brazil) and the runner up (Argentina), which considers itself, at least in terms of political discourse, to be Brazil's primary competitor. In North America, there is no country equivalent to Argentina that is able to compete, with hard and soft power resources, with Mexico's dominant position.
- 7. Mexico's high level of economic dependency on the United States, with which it shares a common border almost 2,000 miles long, restricts the room for maneuver of its foreign policy and limits the country's dynamism, including under the current government. This high level of economic dependency has no equivalent in South America. Brazil, on the other hand, has to deal with opposition to its leadership by two secondrank powers, Argentina and Venezuela, although

it is reasonable to say that this opposition has decreased substantially since the death of Chávez, the dramatic fall in crude oil prices, and the changes of government in Argentina and Brazil. A constellation of forces like this does not exist in the North.

- 8. Another recent phenomenon that extends beyond regionalism as we know it is the so-called cross-regionalism. Since 2006, six Latin American countries (above all, Mexico, Panama, Colombia, Peru, and Chile) have abandoned customs zones based on regions and, instead, have decided to implement a radical strategy of "bilateral cross-regionalism," i.e. simultaneous participation in multiple bilateral trade agreements (Garzón & Nolte, 2017; Tovias, 2008). Globally, cross-regionalism is, according to the WTO, the instrument of economic diplomacy that has grown the most in recent times (2011, pp. 58-61).
- 9. The consequences of different constellations of power and dependency in North and South America is reflected in the degree of dynamism of the foreign policies of both subregions, especially in the strongest countries: Brazil and Mexico. While Brazilian diplomacy has focused on increasing dynamism (since the times of Color de Mello and his successors, Itamar Franco and Fernando Henrique Cardoso), this trend experienced an additional push during Lula da Silva's two periods of government and was assumed in a more moderate manner by his successor Dilma Rousseff. However, this dynamism dissipated after Michel Temer assumed office, which is why foreign policy appears to have stagnated while the government concentrates on the severe domestic problems it faces.
- **10.** For a long time, Mexican foreign policy was dominated by traditional diplomacy, a high level of principlism (based primarily on autonomy, sovereignty, and non-intervention), and a concentration on the operational part of foreign trade. With the exception of trade policy, Mexican diplomacy was also characterized until recently by stagnation and a rather more modest presence at international fora, which strongly

contrasts with the dynamism shown by Brazil. Albeit slowly, this has changed since Vicente Fox's presidency, which put an end to 70 years of government by the Institutional Revolutionary Party (PRI) and shifted to a rediscovery, in a certain sense, of the terrain of foreign policy and of South America. Since Cardoso's second term, and parallel with its bilateral relations, Brazilian diplomacy has proactively sought reconciliation with its neighbors, exercising benevolent leadership and mediating conflicts that do not pose significant risk or fierce confrontation with other states; Mexico, on the other hand, has pursued a low-profile foreign policy for decades. Its Ministry of Foreign Affairs focused on relations with its neighbor to the north and neglected relations with both its immediate neighbors to the south, i.e. Central America, and South America. Calderón and, more notably, Peña Nieto have rediscovered, at least at the level of discourse, both their neighbors from the isthmus and South America. It could be said that Brazil is seen as a model in regards to its social and energy policies, as well as its leadership in regional and international politics. Colombia, meanwhile, seems to have been used by Peña Nieto as a model for his anti-drug policy.

- **11.** Despite Mexico's recent rediscovery of the South (a posture shown in a respectable range of bilateral agreements), until now, the new gaze of Mexican diplomacy towards the South had not been transformed into a coordinated subregional strategy.
- 12. An open question still remains as to whether the coexistence of open regionalism and postneoliberal regionalism will give rise to new initiatives in Mexico and Brazil's foreign policies. One scenario points towards a closeness between both nations, perhaps a shared leadership; a second scenario might be a growing rivalry between the two countries; and a third scenario might be the possibility of increasing intraregional fragmentation that dilutes any leadership ambition of the region. The recent swing to the political right in the region makes this last scenario the most plausible. In any

event, the neoprotectionism promoted by new U.S. president Donald Trump leaves doubts as to whether this project for the region's indiscriminate participation in the world market can really prosper.

5. Beyond neo-extractivism? The strategic imperatives for a transformational approach

5.1. The opportunities offered by new relations with China

Since 2013, developing countries, rich in natural resources, have progressively lost ground. Their development model, based on traditional comparative advantages (untransformed natural resources), enabled an economic boom and a strong foreign policy thanks to the high prices of raw materials, but does not appear to serve the region as a guiding principle going forward. This strategy has also needed recent correction in China, as the growing costs of labor and revaluation of its currency have put the competitiveness of Chinese industry at risk. The government is now attempting to transform the previously successful growth model, based on exports and driven by large investments, using a strategy that emphasizes products with greater added value, more services, and greater domestic demand. This change of course also implies a threat to other developing countries. Above all, Brazil and Russia are suffering due to the drop in Chinese demand. Moreover, emerging powers have been profoundly affected by the pressures of financial markets. With the end of easy money from the European Development Fund (EDF) and the rise of interest rates in the United States, foreign investors have removed their money from emerging markets and placed it in the United States. Weak exchange rates have led to a rise in imports. The Central Bank of Brazil has reacted to these changes by raising interest rates, but in the long term, this reaction ended up weakening its already low growth rate even more.

China's change of course can be considered part of the "new normal" and outlines the process of a profound socioeconomic transformation, the goal of which is the implementation of an ambitious development agenda to maintain Chinese leadership in the second phase of shifting global wealth. This strategy supposes a transition from outward growth (a feature that has characterized its course since the beginning of this century) to growth based on greater domestic consumption against a backdrop of demographic aging, consolidation of an urban middle class, and displacement towards the service sector and knowledge-and-technology-intensive industries.

These new domestic development priorities are also having an effect on China's foreign relations and on cooperation with other regions of the world, including Latin America. In the face of the rise of new U.S. protectionism, new infrastructure investments and projects from China are welcome in Latin America, provided that these are the response to a corresponding demand and foster lasting and sustainable economic development (Myers, 2016). Opportunities in this regard are not insignificant, as the Chinese dragon is positioning itself evermore actively on the world stage, acting, as recently occurred at the Davos 2017 meeting, as a defender of free trade supported by most of the new Latin American governments, with a soft power strategy that exposes interests that go far beyond the economic sphere, i.e. trade, investment, and financial cooperation.

One striking example of this is the 2015 Report on Sustainable Development of Chinese Enterprises Overseas (Chinese Academy of International Trade and Economic Cooperation, 2015), which shows that Chinese authorities are increasingly aware of the environmental and social impacts caused by mega-projects, such as those in the energy sector. In order to make sustainable investments, the report urges Chinese enterprises to develop a "corporate social responsibility" in the countries they invest in. As Margaret Myers, an expert on China from the Inter-American Dialogue, mentions, both Chinese government ministries and banks and chambers of commerce have made progress in recent years on industrial and environmental reforms, and have changed their strategies in Latin America accordingly, aiming for strategic associations and greater integration of their counterparts into value-added

supply chains. Latin American governments and business owners must take advantage of this strategy. The restructuring of Chinese consumption will open up new opportunities for Latin American exports, especially of certain types of food, and in-service sectors, where tourism stands out. On the other hand, this change will require significant efforts in the areas of innovation and technology, in which the region generally lags far behind. Whether the required innovations thrive will depend, to a large extent, on cooperation being democratized across all its stages and on the successful reorientation of financing towards sustainable projects that provide concrete benefits for local populations.

Latin America can learn many lessons from the recent strategic changes in China, including those from its foreign relations policy. The recent study Latin American Economic Outlook 2016: Towards a new Partnership with China, from the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), ECLAC, and the Development Bank of Latin America (CAF) (2015) described in detail the reforms and innovations that the region's countries need in order to set in motion a new association with China and face the challenges implied by a shift in the world's "center of gravity" from developed to emerging economies, a phenomenon known as "shifting wealth."

5.2 From the "resource curse" to the blessing of value-added exports

With the fall of prices in 2013, the growth model based on raw materials has once again shown its limits. This is an important reason that the region should diversify and modernize its production structure based on innovative policies of productive development. The situation is worsening, as the transition in China could have a negative impact on traditional Latin American exports of raw materials and on manufacturing exports from Brazil to the region (Mouron, Urdinez, & Schenoni, 2016, pp. 26ff.) Overcoming the extractivist logic in the region is not easy, considering that the region has lived for centuries under the primacy of and dependency on its traditional comparative advantages: natural resources. Only a handful of countries, such as Costa Rica and Uruguay, have already advanced significantly in decarbonizing their economies. Most hydrocarbon exporting countries, however, have not taken advantage of the fall in raw material prices to change course. As indicated by a recent report from the Inter-American Development Bank (IDB), the structure of Latin American exports to the United States and the EU continues to differ from those of other regions to these two markets. Fuel, natural resources, and semi-processed products constitute the highest percentage of products in the export basket, with the exception of Mexico (Michalczewsky, 2017), and there are no signs of this changing in the medium term. In fact, Bolivia, for example, reacted to the decrease in income from gas by extending the areas for hydrocarbon exploration, even setting aside protected natural areas for this use, as well as offering a substantial subsidy fund of \$3.5 million dollars to oil and gas companies. Ecuador, which has lost around seven percent of GDP due to decreased oil exports, has begun exploiting crude oil in one of the most fragile sites on the planet, the Yasuni National Park, a region that was protected in the past by President Correa and in which there are proven reserves equivalent to 41.7 percent of the country's total reserves. In Venezuela, the most dramatic case, oil production has fallen more than 30 percent in the past decade. Given that this product represents more than 90 percent of Venezuela's exports, the effects of this fall on the country's economy have been disastrous. As Gerardo Honty (2016) underscored, Venezuela "is entering into a vicious cycle in which foreign currency is scarce because [the country] produces less oil [due to the deteriorating financial situation of the state-owned Petróleos de Venezuela (PDVSA)] and in turn [the country] produces less oil due to the same scarcity of foreign currency."

A change of course will not be easy for Latin American countries, because raw materials were the cause of the Latin American boom period of the so-called "golden decade" (2003-2013). However, changing the production structure is, in the long term, the only way for the region to participate more actively in the world market and increase its economic and political importance on the international stage. This does not mean it has to completely renounce its traditional comparative advantages, but it should bear



in mind the IMF statement from 2015 that "natural resources could be a blessing to a country, if natural wealth facilitates the financing of investment for sustainable growth and, at the same time, allow the government to provide basic social services" (as cited in Núñez, 2016). Traditionally, the extractivist model of exploiting natural resources in Latin America has been accompanied by a governance model with a short-term perspective, even in the greatest boom periods resulting from the rise in the prices of basic products. This appears to contradict the very nature of the resources on which extractivist activities are based, as they are by definition nonrenewable (Altomonte & Sánchez, 2016, pp. 10ff.). In certain cases, the profits made from these resources were funneled into social projects through public investment, but this was done on a more case-by-case basis, detached from solid structures that would allow more sustainable conditions to be generated for development and the welfare of future generations. The blessing of resources, this window of opportunity that opened during the golden decade, closed when global market prices dropped. Latin American countries once again showed their inability to convert periods of natural resource export bonanza into long-term economic development processes. The fall was dramatic. Protests from people affected by the extractivist activities of large multinational companies have increased in recent times (Deonandan & Dougherty, 2016), as has an awareness that despite its previous validity, maintaining a development model based on the comparative advantages of natural resources is now a dead end, as it perpetuates dependence and underdevelopment and condemns the region's countries to passive international participation. Latin America and the Caribbean require new ways of governing natural resources that successfully allows a process of sustainable, fair, and equitable development to be set in motion. This strategy does not mean that the region's governments should completely give up their traditional comparative advantages, but that they have to invest the profits in a wide range of public policies and increase the added value of their exports, including those of raw materials. In view of the fact that one of the global economy's greatest challenges is how to feed a growing population and maintain the production of material-intensive manufactured goods, it is very likely that the consumption of raw materials related to the growth of Asian countries will continue to expand for a while. This means that Latin American countries can, therefore, take advantage of their historical specialization in natural resources by giving them added value. Anabel Marín (2016, pp. 247ff.) recently identified three areas of opportunity for the development of new technologies related to natural resources: specific and changing local conditions; the area of development based on new technologies, such as biotechnology; and finally, opportunities related to the need to develop environment-friendly technologies. Advances in these areas could obtain broad support from a population that considers environmental protection to be a very important foreign policy goal, as shown by the survey The Americas and the World: Public Opinion and Foreign Policy, which was administered in seven Latin American countries in 2014 and 2015. On a list of 12 foreign policy goals, most citizens qualify environmental protection as highly important. 96 percent of the people surveyed mentioned that it is a somewhat or very important goal, this percentage being the highest of all the goals (Centro de Investigación y Docencia Económicas [CIDE], 2014-2015). Certainly, according to ECLAC, the impact of climate change on Latin America is already significant and is only increasing. The main effect can be seen in a rise in average temperature of between 0.7 and 1 degree from the mid-1970s. Moreover, the southeast region of South America has observed a rise in annual precipitation. These phenomena have had diverse effects on agricultural activities, the water system, biodiversity, forests, tourism, health, and cities (ECLAC, 2015).

5.3. Significant energy potential as opportunity

The region's significant energy potential is a source of wealth and, undoubtedly, a comparative advantage that has only partially been taken advantage of until now. According to data from the IDB, this potential could sufficiently cover more than 22 times the region's electricity demand in 2050. This example shows that the region's governments could exploit the implications of the Paris Agreement (COP21) to drive a development model that harnesses its diversity of natural resources without compromising the region's social and environmental welfare. Latin America is better positioned than other regions of the world in various aspects regarding the commitments made by approximately 200 countries at COP21, and in November 2016 in Marrakesh, due to its low-carbon electricity sectors. Most of the region's countries, including the countries with the highest emissions (Brazil and Mexico) have ratified the Paris Agreement. Although Latin American countries, in relative terms, contribute little to CO2 emissions, energy consumption has increased within the framework of economic growth that the region has experienced in recent decades. As noted by Christian Denzin, lowering emissions from seven to two tons per capita by 2050 would be a consistent response to COP20 in Lima (2014) and COP21 in Paris (2015). Brazil and Mexico, which occupy places 12 and 13 on the list of countries with the highest emissions, have emissions of more than two tons per capita, despite their high levels of poverty. If these two countries maintain their traditional development path while also attempting to reduce poverty at the same time, their emissions will continue to increase (Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung [FES], 2017).

Currently, Costa Rica is the only country that actually has the capacity to meet its national commitments in terms of the global goal of preventing the average temperature from rising two degrees. To reduce its per capita emissions by 2050, Latin America has to stop deforestation, reduce emissions caused by agriculture, and reduce energy consumption by 40 percent, a goal that could be met if it implements a strategy that leads to greater energy efficiency. According to a report from the IDB, the region should also decarbonize 90 percent of its energy sector and fully electrify the transport sector. Decarbonizing means replacing high-carbon content energy sources, such as oil and gas, with zero-carbon sources, chief among which are solar and wind power. This path's probability of success is not unlikely, as the region is, compared to others, a leader in clean energy. Forty-eight percent of its electricity comes from clean energy sources, of which 96 percent corresponds to hydropower. Emissions due to transport, however, are growing quickly, as the number of cars in the region is growing, resulting in an increase in consumption of gasoline and diesel. In order to meet their Paris Agreement goals, Latin American countries must build infrastructure that helps to install low-carbon energy systems, as well as democratize and decentralize their energy systems to achieve fairer and more inclusive economies. These last two goals are important because an effort that only focuses on decarbonizing will not be enough to change monopolistic or oligopolistic, corrupt, clientelist, and inefficient structures. A strategy like this would also attract new foreign direct investments. The new commitments to China are a step in that direction. Large investments must also be made in electric vehicles and in public transport, without neglecting policies to create cultural change and disincentives so that consumers adjust their behavior patterns, which are today insensitive to energy saving (Viscidi & O'Connor, 2016). Progress on these issues also depends on the cuts that the Trump administration will be making in the area of the environment (incalculable as of yet), because many Latin American governments have conditioned the implementation of their own plans for reducing emissions to meeting financial commitments and technology transfers agreed to by the Obama administration (Viscidi, 2017).

Moving beyond the traditional development strategies applied until now is not easy, as the four models of development that have historically been implemented in the region (the primary export model, the import substitution model, the neoliberal model, and post-neoliberalism) have not erased an archetypal characteristic of Latin American societies: structural heterogeneity; in fact, they have actually reinforced it (Cálix, 2016, p. 17). As a first step towards setting socially fair, economically productive, and ecologically sustainable transformation into motion, national policies are needed that foster innovation where countries already possess greater competitive advantages. Chile and Costa Rica are good examples of how this could work. Chile exports salmon, along with a great deal of technology associated with the salmon farming industry. Nevertheless, advances are inconclusive even in these countries; an example of this is the growing number of complaints about the environmental impact of excessive salmon farming activity, particularly in the Chilean region of Chiloé. It is also worth men-



tioning that Costa Rica, which faces environmental conflicts due to pineapple crops and the predatory attitude of one part of its tourism industry, is one of the few countries in the world with a positive balance of trade with China, thanks to its important technological exports, especially microprocessors (Núñez, 2016, p. 2).

5.4. The imperatives of innovation and diversification

Innovation and diversification are the buzzwords that dominate the current debate on ways to escape the "resource curse" and its impact on the region's international participation. The basic argument is that a country's capacity to participate in global trade and growth depends on its capacity to innovate in technological, social, and organizational fields. In this sense, the distinctive aspect of the new knowledge economy is the central role of innovation in competition and the international division of labor. Innovation occurs in the creation of new products, processes, sectors, and activities, thus driving structural transformation, which in turn reinforces the incentives for innovation in a virtuous process of production that increasingly values the generation of added value based on knowledge. However, as historical experience shows, this process is not automatic or spontaneous. Internal capacities, institutions, and policies play a key role in supporting innovation. Furthermore, innovation alone is not sufficient, nor is it a magic bullet that will solve the region's technological-production underdevelopment problems. As Dani Rodrik (2016) underscored, what improves standards of living is the effect of technological innovation on the productivity of the entire economy, not innovation in itself. Although it is true that we live in an accelerated age of revolutionary technological breakthroughs - including artificial intelligence, biotechnology, digitalization, and automation - there is no consensus on where these achievements will lead us. There are techno-optimists, techno-pessimists, and a third group that could be called the technoworriers. This last group agrees with the optimists, according to Rodrik, about the scale and scope of innovation, but frets about the adverse implications for employment and/or equity; the focus of debate is about the spread of these innovations.8

The central question is whether these innovations will remain contained to a few tech-intensive sectors that employ the highest-skilled professionals and account for a relatively small share of GDP, or spread to the bulk of the economy. This ultimately depends on how quickly innovation diffuses through labor and product markets. As regards diffusion, Rodrik (2016) noted a series of restrictions on both the demand and supply sides of the economy. On the demand side, for example, the United States experienced the most rapid productivity growth in information and communications technology, while government services and health care had virtually no productivity growth. On the supply side, the key question is whether the innovating sector has access to the capital and skills it needs to expand rapidly and continuously. This last factor is, as we know, a big problem in Global South countries, including Latin America, whose workforce is essentially low skilled. This scarcity comes into play once manufacturing operations become automated and require highly-skilled workers, who tend to be in short supply; developing countries lose their comparative advantage vis-à-vis industrialized countries. In a world of "premature deindustrialization," achieving economy-wide productivity growth becomes that much harder for low-income countries. Rodrik (2016) cites the economist Tyler Cowen, who has suggested that these countries may benefit from the trickle-down of innovation from advanced economies, consuming a stream of new products at cheap prices. However, the question remains: What will these countries produce and export - besides primary products - to be able to afford the new products (e.g. cellphones) imported from advanced economies?

As the statistics show, economy-wide productivity has stagnated in Latin America. Rapid productivity growth in the pockets of innovation has been undone by workers moving from the more productive to the less productive parts of the economy, a phenomenon that Rodrik (and his colleagues) have

^{8.} This is Trump's great mistake; "unfair trade" is not responsible for the destruction of thousands of jobs in the industrial chain in the United States, but rather the technological revolution.

called "growth-reducing structural change." This clearly shows that innovation can co-exist side-byside with low productivity, and the opposite is true, i.e. productivity growth is sometimes possible in the absence of innovation, when resources move to the more productive sectors (Rodrik, 2016). Additionally, on the theme of sustainable and inclusive development, the topic of innovation and the use of technology should be seen in terms of the principle of "technological fairness," which puts access to and use of technology at the heart of the debate as we consider how innovations and technologies can contribute to solving urgent social and environmental issues. This is a relationship that has not been investigated much until now (see Trace, 2016).

Despite the fact that all the BRICS have invested significantly in science and technology for the past two decades, only China and India have been successful in exporting high-tech products in certain sectors. China, which had become the world's workshop until recently, is actively working to transform itself into an economy of innovation. In order to do so, it successfully set out to attract thousands of startups from all over the world, in an initiative comparable to the birth of Silicon Valley. In 2015, China invested massively in ten areas of economic priority; the amount of investment stands at ¥5.3 trillion yuan (approximately \$319 billion dollars), distributed over 800 funds (Giesen, 2017). Beyond China and India, the rest of Global South countries mostly continue to export low-tech products. In the 2011 Global Performance Index (GPI),9 which consists of 96 countries, six Latin American countries are among the top 50: Chile (5), Argentina (22), Brazil (23), Mexico (37), Colombia (40), and Peru (43) (Kappel & Pohl, 2013, p. 5). Between 2000 and 2008, the growth in Brazil's productivity was only 3.6 percent (per employee - 1.3 percent); in China it was 10.2 percent (9.2 percent), and in India, 7.5 percent (5.4 percent) (Kappel & Pohl, 2013, p. 4). These figures show that efforts to date are not enough to accelerate the process of catching up in Latin America.

5.5. Can China replace the United States in Latin America?

If the United States under its new administration actually deepens its inward-looking strategy and

continues to distance itself from its southern neighbors, could China fill this vacuum and support Latin America to increase its competitiveness and improve its insertion into the international economy? Foreign relations, especially the adoption of new trade agreements and innovations, play an important role in China's new normal strategy designed on the basis of annual growth of around six percent. In one recent study, the IDB investigated the impact on innovation of trade agreements between China and ten countries, three of which are Latin American (Chile, Costa Rica, and Peru) (Chelala, 2016). The interconnection between trade agreements and innovation chiefly appears in four areas: technical cooperation; technology transfer; research, development, and innovation; and intellectual property patents. For these four areas, the IDB figures clearly indicate a modest impact of these trade agreements on the ten countries chosen. However, more agreements, countries, and indicators are needed to obtain more solid results. In any event, if we look at the region as a whole, there is evidence that the participation of Latin America in global value chains (GVCs) is substantially inferior to that of other regions. Within the current rules of the game, participation in GVCs is seen as very important, given that value-added supply chains are playing a growing role in the global economy, mostly dominated by the key players of the OECD¹⁰ countries. However, leading companies from Global South emerging powers often occupy dominant positions in quasihierarchical value-added chains, co-determining governance in these chains and performing a leadership function, whether through subcontracts and vertical integration for the region's leading technology companies, or via technology transfer, profit distribution, and restricting access to value chains.

^{9.} The GPI is an instrument for measuring the performance capabilities of 100 countries. The indicators show the development of trade, institutions, education and training, infrastructure, the financial system, and income per capita. 10. In recent decades, transnational companies have taken advantage of the global policy of investment incentives, lowering of taxes and customs duties, fostering of trade, and the deregulation of labor markets. Today, the global value-added chains of the OECD control 80 percent of world trade.



These Global South companies are therefore a telling indicator of the positioning of a country within an international economy (Kappel, 2014). Closing the technology gap will not be easy, but there appears to be no alternative. In terms of trade diversification, only Chile, Colombia, and Costa Rica are at the same level as China, while innovation capital in Latin America is much lower than in the OECD. According to the World Intellectual Property Organization (WIPO), in a ranking of 128 countries led by Switzerland, Sweden, and the United Kingdom, only one Latin American country ranked among the top 50: Chile, at position 46. Outside of the top 50, Costa Rica ranked at 53 and Mexico at 58; these countries were followed by Panama (63), Colombia (65), Uruguay (67), Brazil (69), Peru (70), and Argentina (76). Bolivia, the last Latin American country on the list, came in at 106 (Agencia EFE, 2017). By contrast, in the ninth edition of the Global Innovation Index, China has become the first middle-income country to be in the select group of the top 25 countries (Agencia EFE, 2017).

5.6. Education and scientific output as key areas

As the OECD'S most recent report indicates, Latin America ranks below the global standards for academic performance based on data from the 74 countries that participate in the Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA). One could object to the design of measurements such as PISA, but it is undeniable that it offers a comparative framework of competencies that today seem very relevant to the performance and participation of countries in globalization. Of the Latin American countries that participated in the evaluation of competencies recorded in the report, only Mexico and Argentina are above average in the relationship between economic situation and academic performance. A comparison of Latin America's formal education with that of China shows remarkable differences in many aspects, favoring China. According to data from the PISA report, of the 72 countries that participated, China occupies sixth place in mathematics; tenth in science; and 27 in reading skills. Conversely, the ten Latin American countries that participated are ranked in the lower half.

The superiority of the Chinese school system is also reflected in other indicators, such as school autonomy, duration of the school year, the daily number of teaching hours, the amount of teacher strikes and absenteeism, the professional requirements for hiring teachers, and, in general, the value and importance that society and students ascribe to education, aiming to obtain good results, and professional growth (Vélez Bustillo, 2017). To improve this deplorable situation, the report suggests public policies such as the creation of challenging learning environments, the participation of parents and local communities, encouraging students to make the most of educational opportunities, and offering focused support for students (OECD, ECLAC, & CAF, 2015).

Another indicator that has to do with competitiveness is a country's scientific output. According to the Scimago Institutions Rankings (SIR), which measures scientific output, rates of international collaboration, and the impact and percentage of documents published in journals with international prestige by higher education institutions in Latin America and the Caribbean, Spain, and Portugal, although scientific output continues to increase in the region, it lags behind the world average. Research continues to be concentrated in a few universities and, although scientific output is growing quickly (it has the second highest growth in the world, after Asia), it still only accounts for four percent of the world total. The rate of impact of most research conducted in the region is also below the world average, and the visibility of its scientific output is modest to say the least. One reason why the region's scientific output is scarce is that the community of internationally active researchers is relatively small, as is the percentage of GDP dedicated to research.

To make the most of China's transformation and its offers of cooperation, the region should, beyond the education sector, invest substantially in the quality and adequacy of competencies and in rectifying deficiencies in infrastructure and logistics. Furthermore, improvements are necessary in government regulations, institutions, and capacities to develop profitable projects, environmental sustainability, and a greater commitment to transparency and good governance.

6. Conclusions: A transition towards deeper integration, larger investments in science and innovation, and sustainable development is the best way to gain greater international importance

There is no doubt that the emergence of a new world order; decentralized globalization; the changes in international economic policy, the fundamental feature of which is the rise of the Asia-Pacific region; and the emergence of a series of mega-regional trade agreements will directly impact the policy of Latin American regionalization and will reconfigure the economic policy coalitions in each of these countries. It is already apparent that the PA is attractive beyond the four Latin American signatory countries (Mexico, Colombia, Peru, and Chile), as seems to be the case for Argentina and Brazil under the governments of Macri and Temer, who are very interested in reconsidering their international economic participation. With the swing to center-right governments in the region and their focus on economic openness, encouraging foreign investments, and improving access to capital markets, these strategies for international participation will once again dominate the region, as they did at the start of the 1990s. This occurs, paradoxically, at a historic moment in which an antiglobalization faction is growing in Europe and the United States, increasingly distancing itself from openness and multilateralism¹¹ and casting doubt on the role of these nations as the driving force and guarantor of multilateral economic order. In the words of Alejandro Frenkel (2017):

While the consensus on free trade and globalization in the West is sinking like the Titanic, the liberal governments of Latin America have become the orchestra on the mythic transatlantic ship. Disorientated by an unexpected scenario, it remains to be seen whether they end up on the lifeboats thrown by China or whether their refusal to recalibrate their models of economic participation and their foreign alliances end up sinking them into the depths of the ocean.

It is still an open question as to whether China will really put greater openness of its markets into practice, i.e. renounce protectionist customs duties and dumping measures in the export sector in the future. The giant continues growing, although "only" at rates of 6.5 percent to seven percent. Enormous sums have been invested in large infrastructure projects and the real estate market is heating up again, causing many Chinese people to move their money abroad. On the other hand, the yuan, which was always weak against the dollar, continues to lose value. Exports are no longer the main engine of growth and demand for natural resources has fallen, which above all affects South American countries. Moreover, the Asian country faces other problems. Debt has grown over the past decade, from 150 percent to 260 percent of GDP, which is two and a half times its economic capacity. Companies, particularly stateowned ones, are the biggest debtors. China needs even more credit to generate growth, but two thirds of the new credits are needed to pay interest. The real estate sector, which continues to be the most lucrative to date (a permanent temptation for investors, including the state) is out of control and tainted by endemic corruption; available credit is cheap and environmental pollution in megacities is becoming increasingly unbearable. The growing movement of labor-intensive production to other Asian countries has increased the already high percentage of unemployed Chinese that are searching for jobs that no longer exist in the industrial clusters or in the rural interior regions. As a result, the number of social protests has grown exponentially, threatening the country's stability, even when the monopoly on power of the Communist Party nomenklatura has so far remained unquestioned. Economists recommend aggressive privatization of state-owned companies as an exit strategy, but this would mean a loss of control for the Communist Party and mass layoffs, which would further increase social protests, possibly even making them uncontrollable. Nothing worries the government more than an increase in instability (Köckritz, 2016).

^{11.} The distancing of the U.S. government from liberal creed is not comprehensive, as it only applies to those cases that involve, according to the Trump administration, "unfair trade," i.e. trade that threatens the U.S. economy and destroys jobs.



6.1. The reaction of Latin American governments to Trump's victory and the wooing of China

The reaction of Latin American governments to Trump's victory and the wooing of China is naturally heterogeneous and reflects the underlying economic, political, and ideological differences that exist in the region and the different degrees to which countries could be affected both by U.S measures and offers from the Asian dragon. First, the Southern Cone countries have found the need to recalculate their foreign policy and strengthen their ties with countries such as China. At least in its rhetoric and international presence China has become the great defender of free trade and globalization (despite its protectionist practices),¹² and less decidedly with Europe, while hoping that this change does not mean losing its privileged connection with Washington. This redesign is easier for countries such as Chile and Peru, which already have bilateral trade agreements with the United States, than for Mercosur's Brazil and Argentina, whose negotiations with the EU have been at a standstill for more than 15 years, although they have now apparently been unblocked. If we add the faction of countries from the Bolivarian axis (Venezuela, Bolivia, and Ecuador), which have profoundly anti-United States feelings (Venezuela) or a demand for greater autonomy (Ecuador and Bolivia), it is clear that we cannot expect, in the short and medium term, a consistent strategy for international participation from the region one way or the other, and even less if we take into account the multiple weaknesses of the two most powerful countries: Brazil and Mexico. Unification of a common position continues to be conspicuous by its absence. The contradictory declarations within the framework of CELAC, as Alejandro Frenkel (2017) emphasized with good reason, are more wish lists than an articulation of a unified policy. All of this exists within a global context in which the process of accumulation is shifting toward the Asia-Pacific region, which will cause changes in competitiveness as regards the links of production chains, in the profit calculations of different sectors of the economy, and in countries' patterns of international participation. Latin America should decide whether the region, or at least some of its members, will take advantage of this development and

advance towards both a more active participation in the international economy and towards sustainable development. The other option would be to remain in its traditional role as a supplier of raw materials. For these changes to occur, it is necessary to rethink trade policy to make it less ideological and more realistic and pragmatic, so that losers can be identified and suitably compensated. Finally, trade policies have to be compatible, as we have already underscored, with other internationallyapproved regulations and frameworks of reference, such as the ILO's Decent Work Agenda, the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, and the Paris Agreement (Schillinger, 2016).¹³ What is lacking in Latin American is ample debate on the true effects of mega-agreements on the region's development, which should not only include governments, but also the middle class, unions, low-income sectors, multilatinas, and academia. In order to reconcile these trade agreements, whether bilateral, regional, or mega-regional, with the SDGs, we would have to consider a widely-verified phenomenon: a blind faith in globalized markets results in the continued disengagement of the poorest in the world, as the costs of environmental damage are externalized. In that direction, instead of complaining about the Trump administration's withdrawal from the TTIP and TPP mega-agreements, we should take advantage of this situation to ensure a new multilateral momentum inspired by, for example, the spirit of the previous sessions of the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD), towards a new economic world order that, among other aims, puts an end to the closure of wealthy countries to imports from the Global South, establishes fair and transparent trade rules, meets the work criteria of the ILO, and promotes cooperative development.

^{12.} According to the OECD, the Chinese economy is the most closed in the world.

^{13.} It is at least suspicious that most of the debate on the PA and its advances and impacts on participating economies is more of a Latin American monologue, while its Asian counterpart has remained practically silent.

6.2. COP21 as a guiding principle towards a reconfigured Global South and worldwide sustainable development

The results of the COP21 in Paris mark the path towards more sustainable development worldwide. However, meeting the COP21 commitments with alternative development is going to be difficult due to its fundamental contradictions, the positions and interests of the signatory countries, and the influence of powerful economic actors who are attempting to limit its potential impact. The main buzzword is decarbonizing energy systems. In many Global South countries, there is no policy to this end or the policies implemented are insufficient (Lay & Renner, 2016). Taking into account the region's possibilities and its rich energy resources derived from renewable sources. Latin America is well positioned to transition towards more sustainable development.¹⁴ The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, despite its deficits in terms of converting the 17 SDGS into sub-goals and indicators, ¹⁵ represents undeniable progress. The agenda foresees not only guidelines for national policies, but also a new path for international technical cooperation (ITC) in the region, characterized by the entry of new actors, new modes and schemes of financing, interdependence between the various cooperation agencies, strengthening of South-South cooperation (SSC), and exploring new routes for investment flows and cooperation in a reconfigured Global South (Aynaoui & Woertz, 2016). All Latin American countries have stated their willingness to adapt their domestic cooperation frameworks in alignment with the new development agendas, such as the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, the Financing for Development Agenda, and the Aid Effectiveness Agenda. The COP21 Agreement in Paris marked at least outlined the path to sustainable development worldwide. Thanks to its high energy potential derived from renewable sources, the Latin American region presents significant opportunity to transition towards a model of sustainable development, although thus far, the region has not adequately taken advantage of this opportunity. One very specific step towards a new form of development would be to change the course of the economic system in support of the common good,

thus following the goal of economic activity as defined in many democratic state constitutions (see Felber, 2016). In a recent working paper, the Peruvian Agency for International Cooperation (APCI) analyzed the role of regional cooperation within the new framework of the Global Partnership for Sustainable Development (GPSD) (Agencia Peruana de Cooperación Internacional [APCI], 2016). The working paper concludes that it is not about applying traditional models of the North-South divide,

but about reconceptualizing it based on new discussion points: the value of domestic resources, interpretation of the universality of responsibilities in conjunction with the principle of Common but Differentiated Responsibilities (CBDR), transfer of green technologies and the 'green economy',¹⁶ the role of private enterprise in ICD [international cooperation for development], management of public assets, [and] the role of SSC within the international system of cooperation for development. (p. 39)

Committing to international cooperation is important but insufficient, because it does not take into account the fact that alternative development is only achievable on the basis of an inclusive approach, i.e. with strong participation from civil society. The change towards sustainability can be successful only if a new state-market-society equation is being created, as underscored by the ECLAC re-

^{14.} According to the IDB report Rethinking Our Energy Future (Vergara, Alatorre, & Alves, 2013), the energy potential of Latin America's natural resources would be sufficient to cover the region's electricity demand by more than 2.2 times in 2050.

^{15.} As Daniel Dückers highlighted, achievement of the 17 SDGS has been deficient if we take the agenda's central goal seriously: sustainable welfare for everyone. This is a serious omission, above all regarding one of the key goals: fairer distribution of material goods, which is practically not addressed by the agenda. Without a change of course in the area of distributional fairness, we cannot expect progress; rather we should expect the opposite (Dückers, 2017).

^{16.} It is worth mentioning that the "green economy" is a widely-debated concept. Each case would therefore need to specify in detail which version of this concept is being used. This debate cannot be summarized here due to lack of space.



port Horizons 2030: Equality at the Centre of Sustainable Development (2016b). The authors recognize that the transformation of commitments and decisions into active policy in the region implies a long-term commitment and requires answering a series of questions that include, among other issues, the future of regional integration, the construction of joint visions and positions, the construction of a common platform for successful insertion in global processes, the type of relationship between the state and other actors, and finally, the measures to be taken to counteract structural development challenges in the region, such as inequality and the distribution of wealth (APCI, 2016, pp. 40ff.). Finally, the success of development under the SDGs is decided in an "unruled G-Zero world" (Bremmer, 2012) at the national level and, remembering the old adage "all politics is local," at the local level. The 2030 Agenda is ultimately a sociopolitical assignment from the international community for the local level.

As said at a recent conference organized by Spanish think tank the Barcelona Centre for International Affairs (CIDOB), there is broad consensus between international experts that the transition towards a low-carbon energy system is unstoppable, and that the structural change towards economies that respect the environment is an absolute necessity today (Barcelona Centre for International Affairs, 2017). However, the Trump administration's clear resistance to following the climate change policy set by the Obama administration represents a step backwards.

6.3. Towards a reinforced integration based on sustainable development

In terms of the region's integration as a springboard to the world market (a goal adopted since the 1980s) Latin America needs more integration, not less, including addressing environmental issues more firmly (Blanco Jiménez & González Blanch, 1999-2000), such as the negative collateral impacts of the socioeconomic advances of recent years, perceptible in greater atmospheric pollution in urban areas and significant deterioration of various natural assets, such as nonrenewable resources, water, and forests. These problems have the potential to erode the very bases that sustain economic dynamism and demand a transition in the coming years towards a sustainable development that preserves economic, social, and natural resources for future generations. This goal implies abandoning a type of regionalism that has predominated until now and which has reinforced national and regional sovereignty based on presidential authority, so-called "inter-presidentialism" (see Malamud, 2010; Legler, 2013; Gómez Mera, 2013). A type of regionalism is required that reinforces sovereignty beyond isolated national capacities, demanding regional and global responses; no less importantly, it must be achieved within the framework of economic development with great equality and social inclusion and on a path of growth with low carbon emissions (ECLAC, 2016b). Greater integration that addresses these challenges would help reduce the region's vulnerability to external phenomena and react to the shift in economic power towards Asia and the Pacific, the acceleration of technological changes, climate change, global governance challenges, and new security threats. The response to a world without a clear course cannot be isolation, which would be the equivalent of following Donald Trump's mistaken path, or the belief that the market will fix things by itself. To leave the dead-end street of extreme dependence on traditional comparative advantages (natural resources), countries must deploy specialization strategies, diversify their foreign economic partners, and seek new forms of financing and participation in the world economy. This means, according to the recent proposals of Sergio Bitar (2016):

- Overcoming Mercosur's exhaustion, expediting and authorizing individual negotiations, and striking a free trade agreement with the EU.
- 2) Setting in motion common projects between Mercosur and the PA: infrastructure projects, bi-oceanic corridors, electrical and energy integration, setting up joint marketing boards in Asia and Africa, [and] joint research to incorporate more technology in enterprises.
- **3)** Articulating value chains around advanced technology sectors.

On June 1, 2017, Donald Trump carried out his campaign pledge and announced that the United States would withdraw from the Paris Agreement.

This process, however, is neither quick or automatic, because the Paris Agreement establishes that countries cannot withdraw during the first three years and, should they decide to withdraw, the withdrawal will not take effect until one year afterwards, i.e. in formal terms, the United States will continue to form part of the climate agreement until 2020. Nevertheless, the situation is different in practice, as Trump has already approved various regulations that dismantle Obama-era policies to combat climate change, undermining the country's efforts to reduce its emissions. Even without Trump's counterproductive policies, it was estimated that the United States was not going to completely fulfill its commitment to the Paris Agreement. This reversal by the United States has reduced the country's capacity for leadership and left a privileged space that China, with the most emissions in the world, has shown signs of wishing to occupy. Although Trump's solitary decision is an undeniably disastrous sign for the international community that might cause a chain reaction, it may also be a call to the other 196 signatories of COP21 (only Nicaragua and Syria did not sign) to close ranks and redouble their efforts to fulfill the Paris objectives and the SDGs. In fact, the initial reactions to Trump's decision point in this direction. The High Ambition Coalition (HAC), whose members include Chile, Brazil, Mexico, Germany, the Netherlands, Luxembourg, and New Zealand, among others, stated that it was "deeply disappointed" and underscored that the agreement was not a matter up for discussion (Rocha, 2017).

Undoubtedly, Latin America, like the rest of the world, is in a phase of profound transition. Recent regional and global events, such as the sharp drop in international prices of raw materials; the exhaustion of the progressive cycle in the region;¹⁷ economic stagnation; new regional and interregional coalitions, such as the BRICS and MIKTA (Mexico, Indonesia, South Korea, Turkey, and Australia); the G20; and the negotiations of new trade mega-agreements are signs of a new period and a watershed for regional interests, increasing intraregional fragmentation, hindering common strategies towards the outside world, and weakening the presence of



Latin America on the international stage as a collective, cohesive, and important actor. However, these changes also open up new opportunities, as shown by Horizons 2030, published by ECLAC (2016b), and the Institute for the Integration of Latin America and the Caribbean's publication Eco-Integration in Latin America (2017), a collective work by thirty international experts presented in April 2017.

If the region's governments are willing to follow guidelines like those mentioned above or similar ones and implement measures that favor structural change, in other words a socially fair and ecologically sustainable transformation, the region could take an important step towards a culture of equality and sustainable development and gain more importance on the international stage.

^{17.} There is broad debate over what has reached its end: a progressive cycle, an age, a series of electoral victories by the left, or merely a progressive narrative. It is too early to tell what the answer to that question is today.



References

AGENCIA EFE. (2015, July 24). Evo reitera críticas a la Alianza del Pacífico [Evo criticizes the Pacific Alliance again]. *El Nuevo Heraldo*. Retrieved from: http://www.elnuevoherald.com/noticias/mundo/america-latina/article28652875.html.

AGENCIA EFE. (2017, June 15). Chile y Costa Rica, países latinoamericanos más innovadores, pero retroceden [Chile and Costa Rica, the most innovative Latin American countries, lose ground]. Retrieved from: https://www.efe. com/efe/america/economia/chile-y-costa-ricapaises-latinoamericanos-mas-innovadores-peroretroceden/20000011-3297789>.

AGENCIA PERUANA DE COOPERACIÓN INTERNACIONAL [APCI]. (2016). América Latina y el Caribe en la nueva arquitectura de la cooperación internacional para el desarrollo: Implicancias frente a la Agenda 2030 para el Desarrollo Sostenible [Latin America and the Caribbean in the new architecture of international cooperation for development: Implications vis-àvis the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development] (working paper). Retrieved from: <http://cepei. org/wp-content/uploads/2016/08/APCI-America-Latina-y-el-Caribe-en-la-Nueva-Arquitecturadela-Cooperacion-Internacional-para-el-Desarrollo. pdf>.

ALTOMONTE, H. AND SÁNCHEZ, R. J. (2016). *Hacia una nueva gobernanza de los recursos naturales en América Latina y el Caribe [Towards a new form of natural resources governance in Latin America and the Caribbean]*. Santiago de Chile: ECLAC. Retrieved from: http://repositorio.cepal.org/bitstream/handle/11362/40157/1/S1600308 es.pdf>.

AYNAOUI, K. E. AND WOERTZ, E. (2016). Introducción: África, América Latina y el "siglo de Asia" [Introduction: Africa, Latin America and the "Asian century"]. *Revista CIDOB d'Afers Internacionals*, 114, pp. 7-15. Retrieved from: <https://www.cidob.org/articulos/revista_cidob_d_ afers_internacionals/114>. BARCELONA CENTRE FOR INTERNATIONAL AFFAIRS. (2017, February 27). Climate Futures: "The transition to a low carbon energy system is unstoppable". Retrieved from: https://www.cidob.org/en/news/issues/security/climate_futures_the_transition_to_a low_carbon_energy_system_is_unstoppable>.

BERGGRUEN, N., & GARDELS, N. (2012). Intelligent Governance for the 21st Century: A Middle Way between West and East. Cambridge: Polity.

BITAR, S. (2016, August 1). Por qué nos conviene una mayor integración latinoamericana [Why a greater Latin American integration is in our interest]. *Estrategia*. Retrieved from: http://www.estrategia.cl/12074/Columna>.

BLANCO JIMÉNEZ, F. J., & GONZÁLEZ BLANCH, M. (1999-2000). Los procesos de integración económica y medio ambiente [Economic integration and environmental processes]. *Boletín Económico de Información Comercial Española*, 2638, pp. 9-18. Retrieved from: http://www.revistasice. com/CachePDF/BICE_2638_9-18_7A9447505 0AAFCD726C7CBA482C57CD1.pdf>.

BODEMER, K. (2014). ¿Sur-Sur contra Norte-Sur? La política brasileña extrarregional bajo la presidencia de Lula da Silva (2002-2011) [South-South versus North-South? Brazilian extraregional policy under the presidency of Lula da Silva (2002-2011)]. *Anuario Latinoamericano. Ciencias Políticas y Relaciones Internacionales,* 1, pp. 45-69.

BORBOLLA, M. H. (2014, June 18). "Sobrevendido", la Alianza del Pacífico: Jorge Castañeda ["Oversold", the Pacific Alliance: Jorge Castañeda]. *Quadratín*. Retrieved from: https://mexico.quadratin.com.mx/%E2%80%9CSobreve ndida%E2%80%9D-la-Alianza-del-Pacifico-Jorge-G-Castaneda/>.

BREMMER, I. (2012). Every Nation for Itself: Winners and Losers in a G-Zero World. London: Portfolio. BREMMER, I. (2013, June 11). From G8 to G20 to G-Zero: Why no one wants to take charge in the new global order. *The New Statesman*. Retrieved from: https://www.newstatesman.com/politics/politics/2013/06/g8-g20-g-zero-why-no-one-wants-take-charge-new-global-order.

BUZAN, B., & LAWSON, G. (2013). The Global Transformation: The Nineteenth Century and the Making of Modern International Relations. *International Studies Quarterly*, *57*(3), pp. 620-634. BUZAN, B., & Lawson, G. (2014). Capitalism and the emergent world order. *International Affairs*, *90*(1), pp. 71-91.

BUZAN, B., & LAWSON, G. (2015). The Global Transformation: History, Modernity and the Making of International Relations. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

CÁLIX R., J. A. (2016). Los enfoques de desarrollo en América Latina: Hacia una transformación socialecológica [Development approaches in Latin America: Towards a social-ecological transformation] (Analysis No. 01/2016). Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung, Proyecto Regional Transformación Social-Ecológica: Mexico City.

CAMPODÓNICO, H. (2015, July 6). ¿Está sobrevendida la Alianza del Pacífico? [Has the Pacific Alliance been oversold?] *La República*. Retrieved from: http://larepublica.pe/politica/200680-esta-sobrevendida-la-alianza-del-pacifico.

CASTANEDA, J. G. (2012, March 1). La rivalidad México-Brasil [Mexico-Brazil rivalry]. *El País.* Retrieved from: https://elpais.com/elpais/2012/02/28/opinion/1330453013_778328. html>.

CENTRO DE INVESTIGACIÓN Y DOCENCIA ECONÓMICAS. (2014-2015). The Americas and the World (2014-2015): Public Opinion and Foreign Policy. Retrieved from: https://www.lasamericasyelmundo.cide.edu/.

CHELALA, S. (2016). The Impact of Trade Agreements with China on Innovation, Integration, Ideas, 243. Retrieved from: http://conexionintal. iadb.org/2016/12/02/el-impacto-en-innovacionde-los-acuerdos-comerciales-con-china/?lang=en>.

CHINESE ACADEMY OF INTERNATIONAL TRADE AND ECONOMIC COOPERATION, Ministry of Commerce, Research Center of Stateowned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the State Council, and United Nations Development Programme China (2015). 2015 Report on the Sustainable Development of Chinese Enterprises Overseas. Retrieved from: <http://www.cn.undp.org/content/china/en/home/ library/south-south-cooperation/2015-report-onthe-sustainable-development-of-chinese-enterprise. html>.

COVARRUBIAS, A. (2016). Containing Brazil: Mexico's Response to the Rise of Brazil. *Bulletin of Latin American Research*, *35*(1), pp. 49-63. Retrieved from: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/blar.12412/pdf>.

DEONANDAN, K., & DOUGHERTY, M. L. (Eds.). (2016). Mining in Latin America: Critical Approaches to the New Extraction. New York: Routledge.

DIETER, H. (2014). *The Return of Geopolitics: Trade Policy in the Era of TTIP and TPP*. Friedrich Ebert Stiftung, International Policy Analysis, Dialogue on Globalization. Retrieved from: http://library.fes.de/pdf-files/iez/global/11114.pdf>.

DIETER, H. (2015, May 4). Das Ende des handelspolitischen Multilateralismus [The end of trade multilateralism]. *IPG Internationale Politik und Gesellschaft*. Retrieved from: <http://www.ipgjournal.de/schwerpunkt-des-monats/baustellender-globalen-oekonomie/artikel1/detail/das-endedes-handelspolitischen-multilateralismus-908/>.

DUARTE HERRERA, L. K., GONZÁLEZ PARÍAS, C. H., & MONTOYA URIBE, D. A. (2014). Colombia de cara al nuevo regionalismo renovado: La Alianza del Pacífico [Colombia faces the renewed new regionalism: The Pacific Alliance]. *Punto de Vista*, 5(9), pp. 137-162. Retrieved from: http://journal.poligran.edu.co/index.php/ puntodevista/article/view/568/501>.



DÜCKERS, D. (2017). Die Agenda 2030: Weniger als das Nötigste [The 2030 Agenda: Less than the bare essentials]. *GIGA Focus Global*, 3. Retrieved from: https://www.giga-hamburg.de/en/system/files/publications/gf_global_1703.pdf>.

DURÁN LIMA, J. E., & CRACAU, D. (2016). The Pacific Alliance and Its Economic Impact on Regional Trade and Investment: Evaluation and Perspectives. *International Trade*, 128. Santiago de Chile: ECLAC. Retrieved from: http://repositorio.cepal.org/bitstream/handle/11362/40860/1/S1601207_en.pdf>.

ECONOMIC COMMISSION FOR LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN. (2015). *The economics of climate change in Latin America and the Caribbean: Paradoxes and challenges of sustainable development.* Santiago de Chile. Retrieved from: http://repositorio.cepal.org/bitstream/ handle/11362/37311/S1420655_en.pdf>.

ECONOMIC COMMISSION FOR LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN. (2016a). Science, technology, and innovation in the digital economy: The state of the art in Latin America and the Caribbean. Santiago de Chile. Retrieved from: http://repositorio.cepal.org/bitstream/ handle/11362/40840/1/S1600832_en.pdf>.

ECONOMIC COMMISSION FOR LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN. (2016b). *Horizons 2030: Equality at the Centre of Sustainable Development.* Santiago de Chile. Retrieved from: http://repositorio.cepal.org/bitstream/ handle/11362/40117/S1600688_en.pdf>.

ECONOMIC COMMISSION FOR LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN. (2016c). Latin America and the Caribbean in the World Economy: The region amid the tensions of globalization. Santiago de Chile. Retrieved from: http://repositorio.cepal.org/bitstream/ handle/11362/40745/4/S1601273_en.pdf>.

FELBER, C. (2016). Creando una economía para el bien común [Creating an economy for the common good]. In C. Denzin and C. Cabrera

(eds.), *Nuevos enfoques para el desarrollo productivo: Estado, sustentabilidad y política industrial* (pp. 297-316), Mexico City: Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung. Retrieved from: http://library.fes.de/pdf-files/bueros/mexiko/13036.pdf.

FRENKEL, A. (2017, February). Y ahora, ¿quién podrá defendernos? [Who can defend us now?] *Nueva Sociedad.* Retrieved from: .

FRIEDRICH-EBERT-STIFTUNG. (2017, May 29). Opportunities and Challenges for a Coherent Climate Strategy for the Latin American Continent. *FES Connect.* Retrieved from: http://www.fes-connect.org/popular-posts/detail/opportunities-and-challenges-for-a-coherent-climate-strategy-for-the-latin-american-continent/.

FUKUYAMA, P. (1992). *The End of History and the Last Man*. New York: Free Press.

GARCÍA SIERRA, A. (2014, February 17). "La Alianza del Pacífico es el peor tratado comercial": presidente de la sac ["The Pacific Alliance is the worst trade agreement": President of the sac]. *El País.* Retrieved from: <http://www.elpais.com. co/economia/la-alianza-del-pacifico-es-el-peortratado-comercial-presidente-de-la-sac.html>.

GARZÓN, J. F., & NOLTE, D. (2017). The New Minilateralism in Regional Economic Governance: Cross-regionalism and the Pacific Alliance. In P. Riggirozzi and C. Wylde (eds.), *Handbook of South American Governance* [in press]. New York: Routledge.

GEHRE GALVÁO, T. (2009). América do Sul: construção pela reinvenção [South America: Building for reinvention] (2000-2008). *Revista Brasileira de Política Internacional*, 52(2), pp. 63-80. Retrieved from: http://www.scielo.br/pdf v52n2/04.pdf.

GIESEN, C. (2017, May 26). China schläft nie [China never sleeps]. *Süddeutsche Zeitung*. Retrieved from: http://www.sueddeutsche.de/wirtschaft/ report-china-schlaeft-nie-1.3522320>. GIESEN, C., & PIPER, N. (2016, October 6). Zwölf bedrohliche Nullen [Twelve alarming zeros]. *Süddeutsche Zeitung*. Retrieved from: http://www.sueddeutsche.de/wirtschaft/verschuldung-zwoelf-bedrohliche-nullen-1.3193085>.

GÓMEZ MERA, L. (2013). *Power and Regionalism in Latin America: The Politics of Mercosur.* Notre Dame: University of Notre Dame Press.

HEINE, J. (2014). ¿El Mercosur está marcando el paso? La política de la integración regional en el Cono Sur [Is Mercosur setting the pace? The policy of regional integration in the Southern Cone]. *Revista Mexicana de Política Exterior*, 100, pp. 81-101. Retrieved from: https://revistadigital.sre.gob. mx/images/stories/numeros/n100/heine.pdf>.

HOBSBAWM, E. (1962). *The Age of Revolution: 1789-1848.* London: Weidenfeld & Nicolson.

HONTY, G. (2016, September 16). Economías con pies de petróleo [Economies with feet of oil]. *Energía Sur*. Retrieved from: http://energiasur.com/economias-con-pies-de-petroleo/.

IKENBERRY, G. J. (1996). The Myth of Post-Cold War Chaos. *Foreign Affairs*, 75(3), pp. 79-91.

IKENBERRY, G. J. (2014). The Illusion of Geopolitics: The Enduring Power of the Liberal Order. *Foreign Affairs*, *93*(3), pp. 80-90.

INSTITUTE FOR THE INTEGRATION OF LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN. (2017). *Eco-Integration in Latin America: Ideas Inspired by the Encyclical Laudato.* Santiago de Chile: Inter-American Development Bank. Retrieved from: <a href="https://publications.iadb.org/handle/11319/8225?locale-attribute=es&locale-

KACEF, O. (2016). Oportunidades y desafíos en las relaciones entre América Latina y Asia [Opportunities and challenges in Latin America-Asia relations]. *Revista CIDOB d'Afers Internacionals*, 114, pp. 41-62. Retrieved from: http://www.raco.cat/index.php/RevistaCIDOB/article/view/316644/406744>. KACEF, O., & BALLESTY, M. (2014). La competitividad más allá del tipo de cambio: La evidencia para América del Sur [Competitiveness beyond the exchange rate: The evidence for South America]. Unpublished manuscript, ECLAC, Buenos Aires.

KAPPEL, R. (2014). Aufstieg und Fall von Nationen. Warum manche Länder aufsteigen und zu Regional Powers werden [The rise and fall of nations. Why some countries rise to become regional powers]. In A. Ziai (ed.), *Im Westen nichts Neues? Stand und Perspektiven der Entwicklungstheorie* (pp.153-181). Baden-Baden: Nomos.

KAPPEL, R., & POHL, B. (2013). Der wirtschaftliche Aufstieg der BRICS-Staaten [The economic rise of BRICS]. *GIGA Focus Global*, 1, pp. 1-8. Available in German at https://www.giga-hamburg.de/en/system/files/publications/gf_global_1301.pdf>.

KÖCKRITZ, A. (2016). Chinas Große Chance[China's big opportunity]. *Die Zeit*, 52, p. 23.

LAY, J., & RENNER, S. (2016). Not on the "Paris Track": Climate Protection Efforts in Developing Countries. *GIGA Focus Global*, 8. Retrieved from: <https://www.giga-hamburg.de/en/system/files/ publications/gf_global_1608_en.pdf>.

LEGLER, T. (2013). Post-hegemonic Regionalism and Sovereignty in Latin America: Optimists, Skeptics, and an Emerging Research Agenda. *Contexto Internacional*, *35*(2), pp. 325-352. Retrieved from: http://www.scielo.br/pdf/cint/v35n2/a01v35n2.pdf>.

MAIHOLD, G. (2016). Brasiliens Krise und die regionale Ordnung Lateinamerikas [The crisis in Brazil and the regional order of Latin America]. *SWP-Aktuell*, 36. Berlin: Stiftung Wissenschaft und Politik. Retrieved from: <https://www.swp-berlin. org/publikation/brasiliens-krise-und-die-regionaleordnung-lateinamerikas/>.

MAIHOLD, G. (2017). Die Pazifikallianz beginnt einen neuen Entwicklungsabschnitt [The Pacific



Alliance begins a new development phase]. *SWP-Aktuell*, 49. Berlin: Stiftung Wissenschaft und Politik. Retrieved from: https://www.swp-berlin.org/publikation/die-pazifikallianz-beginnt-einen-neuen-entwicklungsabschnitt/.

MALAMUD, A. (2010). La diplomacia presidencial y los pilares institucionales del Mercosur: Un examen empírico [Presidential Diplomacy and the Institutional Underpinnings of Mercosur: An Empirical Examination]. *Relaciones Internacionales*, 15, pp. 113-138. Retrieved from: <http://www.relacionesinternacionales.info/ojs/ article/view/241/214.html>.

MARÍN, A. (2016). Las industrias de recursos naturales como plataforma para el desarrollo de América Latina [Natural resource industries as a platform for Latin American development]. In C. Denzin and C. Cabrera (eds.), *Nuevos enfoques para el desarrollo productivo: Estado, sustentabilidad y política industrial* (pp. 237-254), Mexico City: Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung. Retrieved from: <http:// library.fes.de/pdf-files/bueros/mexiko/13036.pdf>.

MICHALCZEWSKY, K. (2017). How Latin American Exports Are Reacting as Advanced Economies Recover. *Integration Ideas*, 250. Retrieved from: .

MOURON, F., URDINEZ, F., & SCHENONI, L. (2016). Sin espacio para todos: China y la competencia por el Sur [Not enough space for everyone: China and the competition for the Global South]. *Revista CIDOB d'Afers Internacionals*, 114, pp. 17-39. Retrieved from: http://www. raco.cat/index.php/RevistaCIDOB/article/view/316643/406743.

MYERS, M. (2016, September 7). Can China Make New Friends in LAC? *Latin Trade*. Retrieved from: <https://www.thedialogue.org/blogs/2016/09/canchina-make-new-friends-in-lac/>.

NOLTE, D. (2014). Latin America's New Regional Architecture: A Cooperative or Segmented Regional Governance Complex? *EUI Working Papers*, RSCAS 2014/89. Florence: European University Institute, Robert Schumann Center for Advanced Studies. Retrieved from: http://cadmus.eui.eu// handle/1814/32595>.

NÚŃEZ, R. (2016). De la "maldición de las materias primas" a la bendición de las exportaciones con valor añadido [From the "resource curse" to the blessing of value-added exports] (http://www. infolatam.com/2016/01/24/de-la-maldicionde-las-materias-primas-a-la-bendicion-de-lasexportaciones-con-valor-anadido).

OJEDA GÓMEZ, M. (2009, November 17). México y Brasil: caminos opuestos [Mexico and Brazil: Opposite approaches]. *Milenio Diario.* Retrieved from: http://eurolat.blogspot. mx/2009/11/opinion-mexico-y-brasil-caminos. html>.

ORGANIZATION FOR ECONOMIC COOPERATION AND DEVELOPMENT, Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean, and Andean Development Corporation. (2015). *Latin American Economic Outlook 2016: Towards a New Partnership with China*. Paris: OECD Publishing. Retrieved from: http://repositorio.cepal.org/bitstream/handle/11362/39663/ S1501060_en.pdf?sequence=1>.

PADGETT, T. (2010, March 20). As Brazil Rises, Mexico Tries to Amp Up Its Own Clout. *Time*. Retrieved from: http://content.time.com/time/world/article/0,8599,1973921,00.html.

PALACIOS, G. (2005). Brasil y México: Sus relaciones 1822-1992 [Brazil and Mexico: Their relations 1822-1992]. In A. Ortiz Mena L. N., O. Amorim Neto and R. Fernández de Castro (eds.), *Brasil y México: Encuentros y desencuentros* (pp. 23-109). Mexico City: Instituto Matías Romero, Secretaría de Relaciones Exteriores.

PEŃA, F. (2012). Mercosur as a Regional and Global Protagonist. *RSCAS Policy Papers*, 2012/01. Florence: European University Institute, Robert Schumann Center for Advanced Studies. Retrieved from: http://cadmus.eui.eu/handle/1814/20074>.



PHILLIPS, N. (2002, April 25). *Reconfiguring Subregionalism: The Political Economy of Hemispheric Regionalism in the Americas.* Coventry: University of Warwick, Department of Politics and International Studies. Mercosur Study Group, Chatham House. Retrieved from: http://www20.iadb.org/intal/catalogo/PE/2007/00552.pdf>.

PRECIADO CORONADO, J. A. (2013). Paradigma social en debate; aportaciones del enfoque geopolítico crítico. La CELAC en la integración autónoma de América Latina [The social paradigm discussed; contributions of the critical geopolitical approach: CELAC's role in the autonomous integration of Latin America]. In M. N. Ruiz Uribe (coord.), América Latina en la crisis global: Problemas y desafíos [Latin America in the global crisis: Problems and challenges] (pp. 27-49). Mexico City: Instituto Universitario Internacional de Toluca (IUIT) / Consejo Latinoamericano de Ciencias Sociales (Clacso) / Asociación Latinoamericana de Sociología (Alas) / Universidad de Tijuana (UDT). Retrieved from: <http://www. clacso.org.ar/libreria-latinoamericana/libro_detalle. php?id_libro=880>.

RACHMAN, G. (2017). *Easternization. Asia's Rise* and America's Decline from Obama to Trump and *Beyond.* New York: Other Press.

ROCHA, L. (2017, June 2). El gobierno argentino, con una "profunda decepción" por la medida [Argentinian government "deeply disappointed" by the decision]. *La Nación*. Retrieved from: http://www.lanacion.com.ar/2029716-el-gobiernoargentino-con-una-profunda-decepcion-por-lamedida>.

RODRIK, D. (2016, June). Innovation Is Not Enough. *Project Syndicate*. Retrieved from: <https://www.project-syndicate.org/commentary/ innovation-impact-on-productivity-by-danirodrik-2016-06>.

RUBIO, L. (2012, March 11). ¿México vs. Brasil? [Mexico vs. Brazil?] *Zócalo*. Retrieved from: <http:// www.zocalo.com.mx/seccion/opinion-articulo/ mexico-vs.-brasil>. SCHILLINGER, H. R. (2016). In Need of Rethinking. Trade Policies in Times of De-Globalisation. Friedrich Ebert Stiftung, Dialogue on Globalization. Retrieved from: http://library.fes.de/pdf-files/iez/global/12761.pdf>.

STEWART, P. (2014). The Unruled World: The Case for Good Enough Global Governance. *Foreign Affairs*, *93*(1), pp. 58-73. Retrieved from: https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/2013-12-06/unruled-world.

SVAMPA, M. (2017). Cuatro claves para leer América Latina [Four keys for reading Latin America]. *Nueva Sociedad*, 268, pp. 50-64. Retrieved from: http://nuso.org/media/articles/ downloads/2.TC_Svampa_268.pdf.

TASSARA, C., & CECCHINI, S. (2016). Agenda 2030 de desarrollo sostenible: Retos de igualdad para América Latina y el Caribe [2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development: Challenges of equality for Latin America and the Caribbean]. *Pensamiento Propio, 44,* pp. 107-144. Retrieved from: <http:// www.cries.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/009tassara.pdf>.

TORRE, C. (2014, February 17). Alianza del Pacífico: gato por liebre [The Pacific Alliance: A total deception]. *El Espectador*. Retrieved from: <https://www.elespectador.com/opinion/alianzadel-pacifico-gato-liebre-columna-475650>.

TOVIAS, A. (2008). The Brave New World of Cross-Regionalism. Working Paper, 2008-03. Centre d'Études Prospections et d'Informations Internacionales. Retrieved from: http://www.cepii.fr/PDF_PUB/wp/2008/wp2008-03.pdf>.

TRACE, S. (2016). Reiniciando nuestra relación con la tecnología [Rebooting our relationship with technology]. In C. Denzin and C. Cabrera (eds.), *Nuevos enfoques para el desarrollo productivo: Estado, sustentabilidad y política industrial*, pp. 261-293, Mexico City: Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung. Retrieved from: http://library.fes.de/pdf-files/bueros/ mexiko/13036.pdf>.



VÉLEZ BUSTILLO, E. (2017, January 27). What Makes Good Schools? The Case of China and LAC [PREAL Blog entry]. Retrieved from: https://www.thedialogue.org/blogs/2017/01/what-makes-good-schools-the-case-of-china-and-lac/>.

VERGARA, W., ALATORRE, C., & ALVES, L. (2013). *Rethinking Our Energy Future: A White Paper on Renewable Energy for the 3GFLAC Regional Forum.* Document No. IDB-DP-292. Washington, Inter-American Development Bank. Retrieved from: https://publications.iadb.org/handle/11319/5744?locale-attribute=en&locale-attribute=en.

VISCIDI, L. (2017, June 23). Trump's Withdrawal From the Paris Agreement Challenges Latin America. *The New York Times*. Retrieved from: https://www.nytimes.com/2017/06/23/opinion/paris-agreement-climate-change-latin-america.html>.

VISCIDI, L., & O'CONNOR, R. (2016, November 24). How can Latin America Move to Low-Carbon Energy? *The New York Times*. Retrieved from: https://www.nytimes.com/2016/11/24/ opinion/how-can-latin-america-move-to-lowcarbon-energy.html>.

WERNER, A. (2017, July 25). Latest Outlook for The Americas: Back on Cruise Control, But Stuck in Low Gear. *IMF Blog.* Retrieved from: https://blogs.imf.org/2017/07/25/latest-outlook-for-the-americas-back-on-cruise-control-but-stuck-in-low-gear/s.

WILSON, J. D. (2015). Mega-Regional Trade Deals in the Asia-Pacific: Choosing Between the TPP and RCEP? *Journal of Contemporary Asia*, 45(2), pp. 345-353.

WOERTZ, E. (Ed.). (2016). *Reconfiguration of the Global South: Africa and Latin America and the 'Asian Century'*. New York: Routledge.

WORLD TRADE ORGANIZATION. (2011). World Trade Report 2011. The wTO and preferential trade agreements: From co-existence to coherence. Geneva. Retrieved from: https://www.wto.org/ english/res_e/booksp_e/anrep_e/world_tr

Beyond Neo-extractivism: Challenges and Opportunities for Active International Insertion in Latin America was published by Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung in Mexico.



Author

Klaus Bodemer is an associate professor at the Institute for Latin American Studies, GIGA, in Hamburg. He has served as Director of the Ibero-American Studies Institute in Hamburg and as a guest lecturer in Argentina, Brazil, Mexico, Colombia, Costa Rica, and Spain. He was also the Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung representative in Montevideo, Uruguay. His research interests range across the foreign relations of Southern Cone countries, the Europe-Latin America-United States triangular relationship, development theory and strategy, government reform, regional integration, and violence and public safety in Latin America.

Publisher

Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung in Mexico Yautepec 55 | Col. Condesa 06140 | Mexico City | Mexico

Responsible

Christian Denzin Director of the Regional Project Social-Ecological Transformation www.fes-transformacion.org

Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung

The Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung, founded in Germany in 1925, is a private and non-profit institution, committed to the ideals of Social Democracy. It was named after Germany's first democratically elected president, Friedrich Ebert, and continues his political legacy of shaping politics in the spirit of freedom, solidarity and social justice. The Foundation follows this mandate both in Germany and abroad through political education programs, international cooperation, and the promotion of study and research.

Commercial use of all media edited and published by the Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung is not permitted without written consent of the FES.

The views expressed in this publication are not necessarily those of the Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung.